ISSN: 2661-457X



# St. Paul University Philippines

Tuguegarao City, Cagayan Valley 3500

# GRADUATE SCHOOL RESEARCH JOURNAL

Val. XV, Na. 2

SY 2017-2018

### © Copyright 2017 St. Paul University Philippines All rights reserved.

No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the written permission of the **authors** and **St. Paul University Philippines** 

ISSN: 2661-457X

# The SPUP GRADUATE SCHOOL RESEARCH JOURNAL

Vol. XV. No. 2

SY 2017-2018

Published by

### RESEARCH AND PUBLICATIONS OFFICE

St. Paul University Philippines Tuguegarao City, Cagayan Valley 3500

Re-published by **Ascendens Asia Publishing Pte. Ltd.**NLB Publisher Reg. No. R2019061600009

Republic of Singapore

### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

JESUS B. PIZARRO, DPA Editor-in-Chief

INICIA C. BANSIG, PhD SR. MA. ADELINA J. PORTILLO, SPC, PhD Consultants

AGRIPINA B. MARIBBAY, PhD
JEREMY GODOFREDO C. MORALES, PhD
CHARITO M. GUILLERMO, DBM
MA. ELIZABETH C. BAUA, DNS
PILAR B. ACORDA, DME
MARIA VISITACION N. GUMABAY, DIT
Publication Advisory Board

LITA A. JOSE, MBA English Editor

CHRISTIAN JADE G. RUAM
Layout Artist & Encoder

### **CONTENTS**

1 Reading Performance and Reading Remediation Practices in the Public Elementary Schools of Tuao West District: Basis for a Proposed Reading Intervention Program

**Dave Shid Genoveza Cabbuag**Doctor of Philosophy in Education

Major in Educational Management

12 Leadership Behaviors of Nurse Administrators and Caring Behaviors of Staff Nurses at the Cagayan Valley Medical Center

Josephine P. Turingan, RN
Master of Arts in Nursing
Major in Nursing Administration

28 Career Management of the Philippine Military Academy Graduates: Basis for Policy Improvements

Charles V. Calucag

Master in Public Administration

44 Development and Evaluation of a Proposed Worktext in Solid Mensuration

Erovita Teresita Bacud Agustin

**Doctor in Mathematics Education** 

61 Enhancing Quality Assurance Mechanism through Data Analysis Approach

Byron Joseph A. Hallar

Doctor in Information Technology

# 76 Classroom Talk in EFL Classes in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Georgeson G. Pangilinan

Doctor of Philosophy in Rhetoric and Linguistics

The Accounting Services of the Department of Science and Technology Region 2 as to the Implementation of Small Enterprise Technology Upgrading Program (SETUP)

Nancy Conel Guimmayen

Master in Business Administration

101 Metacognitive Awareness and Academic Performance in English of Grade 7 Students

Sher-Anne C. Guzman

Master of Arts in Education Major in English

# READING PERFORMANCE AND READING REMEDIATION PRACTICES IN THE PUBLIC ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS OF TUAO WEST DISTRICT: BASIS FOR A PROPOSED READING INTERVENTION PROGRAM

### **Dave Shid Genoveza Cabbuag**

Doctor of Philosophy in Education Major in Educational Management

### **ABSTRACT**

Reading is a basic life skill. It is a cornerstone for a child's success in school, and, indeed, throughout life. Without the ability to read well, opportunities for personal fulfillment and job success inevitably will be lost. This study sought to determine the pupils' reading performance and the teachers' remediation practices in the public elementary schools of Tuao West. This study utilized the descriptive survey and the participants were 995 pupils from Grades I to VI and 60 teachers who were chosen randomly among the 6 schools in Tugo West District for the school year 2016-2017. The 60 teacher-participants were the sources of data on reading remediation practices. The interview guide was used to gather data on the remediation practices of teachers in the public elementary schools of Tuao West District. To obtain data on the pupils' reading performance, the Phil Iri test was conducted to the pupil-participants. Data on pupils' reading performance, both on oral and silent readings, were extracted from the said document. The results revealed that there is a high proportion of pupils whose reading level fall within the frustration level which indicates pupils' poor comprehension skills. The teachers manifested their commitment to improve pupils' reading performance by the many reading remediation practices they explored, however, along the process; there are hindering factors that affected the successful implementation of the reading remediation activities.

**Keywords**: Reading performance, reading remediation practices, reading intervention program

### INTRODUCTION

Reading is a complex cognitive process of decoding symbols in order to conduct or derive meaning. It is also a means of language acquisition, communication, and of sharing information and ideas. Like all languages, it is a complex interaction between the text and the reader which is shaped by the reader's prior knowledge, experiences, attitude and language community which is culturally and socially situated. There are no concrete laws in reading, but rather allows readers an escape to produce their own product introspectively. This promotes deep exploration of texts during interpretation. Readers use a variety of reading strategies to assist in decoding and comprehension. Readers may use context clues to identify the meaning of unknown words. Readers integrate the words they have to read into their existing framework of knowledge or schema (www.dictionary.com).

Reading is a very important aspect in education because competence and information in reading enables a person to have access to the store of knowledge and information. The ability to read unlocks the doors to information and stimulates literacy, proficiency, creative thinking and comprehension skills. Reading involves making sense of written symbols, building speaking and vocabulary skills.

Reading is an interactive process that encourages the readers to form new thoughts and ideas and to build imaginative skills. The importance of reading and reading comprehension is emphasized in the education community. Several studies were made to improve reading performance; however, there are skill pupils who struggle in reading and reading comprehension. Teachers therefore, have a very important role to play in helping their pupils get most out of reading and become good readers. They need to be given extensive reading remediation and guidance.

To improve reading performance, the Department of Education introduced standard reading assessment tools and programs, some of these are Philippine Informal Reading Inventory (Phil. Iri.), Every Child A Reader Program (ECARP) and many more. The predominant reading level in Tuao West District in the year 2012 shows that the reading performance of most or 47.99% of the pupils fall within

instructional level, 35.93% fall within frustration level and 16.08% fall within independent level. These data show that some pupils acquired the basic skills in reading; however, there are still some who have poor reading performance. Teachers have employed different strategies and intervention activities to improve the pupils' reading performance. However, despite all the preparations to avoid and maximize reading problems, some pupils still have poor reading performance. Teachers find this problem very alarming. In view of this problem, teachers find ways and means to lessen the number of slow readers. The conduct of the reading remediation activities and practices is an answer to solve the problem.

In view of the importance of reading and the existence of reading difficulties among elementary pupils, the researcher embarked on a study on reading performance and reading remediation practices of teachers in the public elementary schools of Tuao West District, the results of which were used as basis for a Proposed Reading Intervention Program for the School Year 2016-2017. This study hopes to document or find out the pupils' performance and teachers' remedial practices in reading to come up with an effective reading intervention plan.

### Statement of the Problem

The study aimed to determine the pupils' reading performance and document the teachers' remediation practices in the public elementary schools of Tuao West.

Specifically, this study aimed to answer the following specific questions:

- 1. What is the profile of pupil-participants in terms of the following:
  - 1.1. gender;
  - 1.2. early childhood education experience;
  - 1.3. grade level;
  - 1.4. educational status of parents; and
  - 1.5. occupation of parents?

- 2. What is the reading performance level of pupils in each grade level with respect to the following reading indicators:
  - 2.1. oral reading:
    - 2.1.1. word recognition;
    - 2.1.2. comprehension;
  - 2.2. silent reading:
    - 2.2.1. reading speed; and
    - 2.2.2. comprehension?
- 3. Is there a significant difference on the reading performance level of pupils in each grade level with respect to the reading indicators when grouped according to school?
- 4. What are the reading remediation practices or activities undertaken by teachers in their respective schools for the past five years to enhance pupils' reading performance?
- 5. What are the strengths and weaknesses of the reading remediation activities that were implemented in the district?
- 6. What measures can be implemented to improve the reading remediation as suggested by teachers?
- 7. What reading intervention program can be proposed to enhance the reading performance of pupils in Tuao West District?

### METHODOLOGY

### **Research Design**

This study employed the descriptive survey for it gathered data on the reading performance of pupils and remediation practices of teachers in Tuao West District.

### **Participants of the Study**

The participants of the study were 995 pupils from Grades I to VI and 60 teachers who were chosen randomly among the 6 schools in Tuao West District for the school year 2016-2017 excluding the

Kindergarten teachers, relieving teachers and school heads. The 995 pupils from Grades I to VI who were considered participants of the study had their reading performance obtained from the Phil Iri.

The 60 teacher-participants were sources of data on reading remediation practices.

#### Instrumentation

The interview guide was used to gather data on the remediation practices of teachers in the public elementary schools of Tuao West District. To obtain data on the pupils' reading performance, the Phil Iri test was administered to the pupil-participants. Data on pupils' reading performance both on oral and silent readings were extracted from the document. The Phil Iri Silent reading passages used were downloaded from the internet dated 2012 while the oral reading passages were taken from the Phil Iri Manual of 2003.

### **Data Gathering Procedure**

In gathering data, the researcher sent letter of permission to the Schools Division Superintendent, to the Public School District Supervisor of Tuao West District, to the school heads of the thirteen public elementary schools of Tuao West District, to teachers from Grades I to VI, who were chosen randomly as participants for the interview. An informed consent was obtained personally by the researcher and contents of the informed consent form were discussed to them. Likewise, the researcher requested the school to set a meeting with the parents of the pupil-participants to explain personally the contents of the informed consent.

The researcher, with the help of the teachers, administered the Phil Iri test. The data gathered were collated, tallied, analyzed and interpreted to obtain a clear picture of the reading performance of pupils and reading remediation practices of teachers in the district.

### **Data Analysis**

The following data analysis tools were used to analyze the data

obtained and answered each specific problem:

Frequency and Percentage. These were used to analyze the profile of the participant-schools. These were also used to present the reading performance of the pupils.

Narrative Analysis. This was used to analyze the reading remediation practices or activities undertaken by teachers in their respective schools to improve the reading abilities of pupils falling within frustration level.

Thematic Analysis. This was used to analyze the data on the strengths and weaknesses, and the reading remediation activities suggested by teachers.

*Chi-Square*. This was used to test for significant difference in the pupils' reading performance level in each grade level.

*Mean*. This was used to obtain the reading level of the pupils in terms of their oral and silent readings as to frustration, instructional and independent levels.

### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

### **Pupil-Participants' Profile**

Majority or 53.37% of the pupil-participants are female. Almost all or 99.30% of the pupil-participants have early childhood experience. Almost all Grade levels in all schools covered have the same number of pupils. Most or 47.24% of the mothers of the pupil-participants are high school graduates. Most or 47.84% of fathers of the pupil-participants are high school graduates. Majority or 57.19% of the participants' mothers are housewives. With respect to occupation, majority or 88.63% of the participants' fathers are semi-skilled workers. Most or 49.05% of pupil-participants are from Tuao Central Elementary School.

### On Reading Performance Level of Pupil-Participants

In Grade I, the reading level of the highest proportion of the  $\,$ 

pupils both for oral and silent readings are within instructional level. In Grade II, the reading level of pupils both for oral and silent readings falls within instructional level. In Grade III, oral and silent reading level of pupils falls within instructional level. The reading level of most Grade IV pupils falls within instructional level for both oral and silent readings. Both the oral and silent reading levels of Grade V pupils fall within instructional level. The reading level of the majority of the Grade VI pupils, both for oral and silent readings falls within instructional level.

# On the Test for Significant Difference on the Pupils' Reading Performance Level When Grouped According to School

There is a significant difference in the oral reading performance level for each grade level across schools except for Grade I. There is a significant difference in the silent reading performance level of pupils for each grade level across schools except for Grade III.

### On the Reading Remediation Practices of Teachers

Most or 44% of the teacher-participants commonly used "paired reading" strategy in their reading remediation practice, followed by 30% in the "each one-teach-one strategy".

# On the Strengths and Weaknesses of the Reading Remediation Activities that were Implemented in the District

One of the strengths of the reading remediation activities is flexibility with regard to time as claimed by most or 41.67% of the teachers. Other strengths were freedom to choose materials within the level of the pupils and support from school heads. However, among the weaknesses, lack of parents' follow up ranked first followed by lack of pupils' interest, poor reading habits and genetic and speech problems.

### Suggestions to Improve Pupils' Reading Performance

Most or 41.67% of the teachers suggested that follow up from parents is needed. Other suggestions were: provide instructional materials for reading, expose pupils to varied reading materials, tutorial

for slow learners, provide a special teacher for reading remediation, and reading remediation must be religiously done.

### **Proposed Reading Intervention Program**

A proposed reading intervention program was designed to improve the reading performance of pupils in Tuao West District.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the findings presented, the following conclusions were derived:

The success of the learning process greatly lies on reading and comprehension skills of pupils. The high proportion of pupils whose reading level falls within the frustration level is indicative of their poor comprehension skills which implies that they find difficulty in reading and understanding materials presented to them and if not properly attended to could affect the academic standing of the pupils.

Teachers manifested their commitment to improve pupils' reading performance as evidenced by the many reading remediation practices they explored, however, along the process, there are hindering factors that affected the successful implementation of the remediation activities.

### RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the findings and conclusions, the following recommendations are given:

- 1. Continuous assessment on the reading progress of pupils should be made by the teacher.
- 2. Teachers should give more drills or exercises in oral and silent reading to improve word recognition and reading speed.
- 3. Teachers should give more meaningful activities to enhance pupils' reading comprehension.
- 4. Teachers should intensify reading by using up-to-date and innovative teaching strategies and techniques and activities that

- will develop pupils' reading ability and higher comprehension skills.
- 5. Teachers and school administrators should support and implement reading programs set by the Department of Education.
- 6. Parents should follow up on their children in their progress in reading.
- 7. The proposed intervention program designed in this study may be used and be modified if necessary to fit to the pupils' needs for this was designed to help improve pupils' reading performance and develop higher order thinking skills.
- 8. The researcher should disseminate the result of the study to the school heads and teachers.
- 9. The proposed reading intervention program may be implemented, monitored and evaluated in the different schools in Tuao West District.
- Other research studies may be conducted to further improve pupils' reading performance and teachers' reading remediation practices.

### References

Bedasua, M. J. (2006). Nature of Reading. Modern Teacher, 55(6).

- Bowen,F. (2006) Modern philosophy. Oxford: Oxford University Press. bOWEB.
- Corpuz, B. (2014). Pupils reading comprehension level and their performance in English, Science and Math: A basis for proposed strategic intervention plan (Unpublished Dissertation). St. Paul University Philippines.
- Department of Education. (2015). Utilization of the early grade reading assessment (EGRA) and early grade math assessment (EGMA) tools for system assessment (DO 57, S. 2015). Retrieved from http://www.deped.gov.ph/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/DO\_s2015 57.pdf

- Department of Education. (2011). Declaring November as national reading month of every year and November 25, 2011 as the nationwide araw ng pagbasa (DM 244, s. 2011). Retrieved from http://www.deped.gov.ph/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/DM\_s2011\_244.pdf
- Department of Education. (2010). Guidelines for the utilization of downloaded funds in support to the implementation of the every child a reader program (DM 37, s. 2010). Retrieved from http://www.deped.gov.ph/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/DM\_s2010\_037.pdf
- Department of Education. (2007). School readiness assessment for all grade one entrants school year 2007-2008 (DO 25, s. 2007). Retrieved from http://www.deped.gov.ph/wp-content/uploads/2007/04/DO\_s2007\_025-1.pdf
- Dictionary.com. (n.d.). Reading. Retrieved from https://www.dictionary.com/browse/reading?s=ts
- Fernandez, R. (2006). Phonemic awareness: A prerequisite in learning to read. *Modern Teacher*, 55(6).
- Harvey, S., & Goudvis, A. (2007). Strategies that work: Teaching comprehension for understanding and engagement (2nd ed.). Portland: Stenhouse.
- Hung, C., & Marjoribanks, K. (2005). Parents, teachers and children's school outcomes: A Taiwanese study. *Educational Studies, 31*(1). DOI: 10.1080/0305569042000310921.
- Kirsch, I., de Jong, J., Lafontaine, D., McQueen, J., Mendelovits, J., & Monseur, C. (2002). Reading for change: Performance and engagement across countries; Results from PISA 2000. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/education/school/programmeforinternationalstudentassessmentpisa/33690904. pdf

- Moats, L. C. (2000). Speech to print: Language essentials for teachers.
- Obmina, L. (2006, November). Reading: A key to moral and academic success. *Modern Teacher*.
- Rasinski, T., & Padak, N. (2000). Effective Reading Strategies: Teaching Children Who Find Reading Difficult (2nd ed.). Columbus, OH: Merrill/Prentice-Hall.
- Vellutino, F. R., Fletcher, J. M., Snowling, M. J., & Scanlon, D. M. (2004). Specific reading disability (dyslexia): What have we learned in the past four decades? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 45(1). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0021-9630.2003.00305.x
- Vlachos, F., & Papadimitriou, A. (2015). Effect of age and gender on children's reading performance: The possible neural under pinnings. *Cogent Psychology, 2*(1). DOI: 10.1080/23311908.2015.1045224
- Yusof, N. M. (2010). Influence of family factors on reading habits and interest among level 2 pupils in national primary schools in Malaysia. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 5*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.253
- Ziegler, J. C., & Goswami, U. (2005). Reading acquisition, developmental dyslexia, and skilled reading across languages: A psycholinguistic grain size theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(1), 3-29. DOI: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.1.3

# CARING BEHAVIORS OF NURSE ADMINISTRATORS AND CARING BEHAVIORS OF STAFF NURSES AT THE CAGAYAN VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER

Josephine P. Turingan, RN
Master of Arts in Nursing
Major in Nursing Administration

### **ABSTRACT**

This study sought to describe the leadership behaviors of nurse administrators as well as the staff nurses' caring behaviors and to compare the nurse administrators' leadership behaviors as assessed by themselves and by their staff nurses. Caring behaviors of staff nurses were described according to profile variables. Leadership behaviors of nurse administrators have been associated with the caring behaviors of staff nurses. This descriptive correlational study was conducted in a 500-bed capacity tertiary, teaching, training hospital, the Cagayan Valley Medical Center, the 3rd largest hospital in the Philippines. All 53 nurse administrators and 89 regular staff nurses in this hospital were the participants of the study. The Leadership Behavior Checklist developed by Cornelius & Associates (2010) for nurse administrators and the Caring Behaviors Inventory established by Wolf (1994) for staff nurses were used as data gathering instruments of this study. Leadership behaviors were very highly manifested by nurse administrators in all dimensions as assessed by themselves, however, these manifestations were not slightly concurred by staff nurses in some dimensions. The leadership behavior of nurse administrators reflects high manifestation of staff nurses caring behaviors. The caring behavior manifested by staff nurses was not affected when the staff nurses were grouped according to their profile variables. This study also provides further evidences regarding perceptions of nurse administrators and staff nurses on the leadership behaviors of their nurse administrators which demonstrate agreements and disagreements on the different dimensions of leadership behaviors.

**Keywords**: Nurses' leadership behavior, caring behavior, Cagayan Valley Medical Center

#### INTRODUCTION

Effective leadership is an important factor in delivering high-quality patient care by nurses. This calls for the role of nurse administrators on the hospital settings to influence and create an environment where professional nursing practices can succeed. Providing a caring environment in the management of nurses is necessary to ensure caring and recovery of patients while they are in the hospital. Hospitals need nurse administrators who can provide support to the nursing profession and develop nursing care through their effective leadership. Nurse administrators as leaders are responsible for establishing suitable conditions in the nursing workplace. This workplace is where the staff nurses are highly involved in caring for their patients and will perform to the best of their ability. A simple act of caring according to Pellicer (2008) is "a leader's single most powerful tool for creating a workplace environment in which employees feel appreciated and respected."

When applied in a nursing workplace this could mean that when staff nurses feel that their leaders care about them, they become motivated resulting to better quality of nursing care.

Williams, McDowell & Kautz (2011) believed that role modeling with the principles of caring, blended with the principles of leadership, can transform the way nurses do things in the workplace, the best place to work and the best place to receive care.

The importance of nursing administrators' leadership role in developing professional nurses' skills and capability must be acknowledged. According to Watson (2006), the nurse administrators' responsibilities include caring and administrative leadership. As such, nurse administrators "understand and communicate caring as a philosophy/ ethic for organizational process and develop skills of caring behaviors/presence in formal-informal relationships with individuals and groups." Thus, when nurse administrators are engaged in incorporating caring in their daily leadership practice, they become agents of change. Hence, healthcare organizations need nurse leaders who can develop nursing care through their leadership (Frankel, 2008).

The Cagayan Valley Medical Center is a growing community of health care providers in which nurses are to provide direct contact and total care to patients 24 hours a day. Changes have been constantly inflowing as felt by the growing number of newly hired nurses brought about by the increasing demands of healthcare and the expansion of hospital services through the years. Quality patient care is the utmost vision of the hospital in which the institution sustains all activities towards attaining quality healthcare services. This includes enhancing the nursing manpower is skills through various professional trainings and development, leadership and supervisory seminars, management short courses, research and series of evaluation programs to ensure a fully structured and equipped staff nurses and nursing administrators amidst the dynamic changes in manpower of the nursing service.

Growing future nurse leaders is a long-term quest that requires both planning and action. It is important to ensure that nurses develop the skills and competencies that will be needed for them to succeed. The development of healthy workplaces that are responsive to everchanging healthcare environment will be in their hands (Sherman & Pross, 2010). These qualities are believed to have an impact on how the nursing services of Cagayan Valley Medical Center would be at par with the demands of care now and in the future.

This study explored the leadership behaviors of nurse administrators as assessed by nurse administrators themselves and as assessed by their respective staff nurses and this also assessed the caring behaviors of staff nurses. Furthermore, the relationship of the leadership behavior of nurse administrators was determined with the caring behaviors of staff nurses.

### Statement of the Problem

The study aimed to determine the relationship between nurse administrators' leadership behaviors and staff nurses' caring behaviors in Cagayan Valley Medical Center.

Specifically, the study sought answers to the following questions:

1. What is the profile of the two groups of participants in terms of

- 1.1 Age;
- 1.2 Unit of assignment; and
- 1.3 Length of service?
- 2. What are the leadership behaviors of nurse administrators as measured by the leadership behavior checklist?
- 3. Is there a significant difference in the assessment of two groups of participants on the leadership behavior of the nurse administrators?
- 4. What is the assessment of staff nurses on their caring behavior along the following dimensions as measured by the Caring Behavior Inventory:
  - 4.1 Respectful deference to others;
  - 4.2 Assurance of human presence;
  - 4.3 Positive connectedness;
  - 4.4 Professional knowledge and skill; and
  - 4.5 Attentiveness to the other's experience?
- 5. Is there a significant difference on the caring behaviors of the staff nurses when they are grouped according to profile variables?
- 6. Is there a significant relationship between the leadership behaviors of the nurse administrators and the caring behaviors of their staff nurses?

### **METHODOLOGY**

### **Research Design**

The research design was a cross-sectional, descriptive and correlational study. In a cross-sectional study, variables are identified one point at a time and the relationships between them are determined. Descriptive correlational studies describe the variables and the relationships that occur naturally between and among them (Burns & Grove, 2013). In this study, leadership and caring behaviors were described and the relationship between them was determined.

### **Participants of the Study**

The participants of the study included all nurse administrators and regular staff nurses with at least six months of experience at the Cagayan Valley Medical Center. Nurse administrators include senior nurses, nursing supervisors, and an assistant chief nurse.

The participants of this study were the 89 staff nurses and the 53 nurse administrators.

### Instrumentation

Nurse administrators' leadership behavior was assessed using the Leader Behavior Checklist (LBC) by Cornelius and Associates (2010). The instrument was designed to measure "leadership" behaviors as opposed to "management" behaviors. Factors assessed by this instrument were derived from a leadership model (Bennis, 1991) based on leadership defined as "an interpersonal influence process of setting direction and inspiring others to achieve goals". The factors on this instrument define the kinds of behaviors involved in "setting direction" and in "inspiring others". It is based on a published research, the ideas of various authors in the leadership literature and on observations of developing leaders in an organization across a variety of industries for the last fifteen years. It was designed to be generic enough to be applicable for all levels of leadership that include senior executive, department head, supervisor and even team leader.

The items on this checklist are clustered under the following nine categories of leadership behaviors:

- Communicating Purpose and Direction. It is the extent to which
  a leader is engaging in the behaviors that are needed to ensure
  that the organization has a clear understanding of its purpose
  (mission) and direction (vision).
- Communicating and Behaving According to Values. It is the extent to which a leader is doing those things that will ensure that others in the organization unambiguously understand the principles for which the leader stands.

- 3. Showing Enthusiasm for People. It is the ability to show support and enthusiasm for people in the organization.
- 4. Instilling in People the Belief They Are Powerful. It is the extent to which the leader engages in the behaviors that will help people feel important and powerful.
- Being Consistent in the Face of Adversity. It is the tendency of a leader to persevere during difficult times and hold to a course of action, even in the face of adversity.
- Planning and Leading Change. It is the extent to which a leader carries out the behavior needed to produce change in organizations.
- Releasing Potential and Energy. It is the extent to which the leader carries out the actions needed to "release" the full potential and energy of the organization.
- 8. Creating a Flexible and "Ready-for-Change" Culture. It is the extent to which a leader creates a business literate organization that is better able to understand and react quickly to any change.
- 9. Developing Leaders in the Organization. It is the extent to which the leader understands that a critical leader's role is to teach, coach and develop the talent within the organization.

On the other hand, caring behaviors were assessed using the Caring Behaviors Inventory (CBI) by Wolf (1988) published by Watson (2002). The original 75-item CBI was developed by Wolf in 1981 and later revised into a 42-item Survey. This study used the updated 42-item tool with a four-point Likert Scale to elicit responses (1=never; 2=occasionally; 3=usually; 4=always). Each of the 42-items describes nursing behaviors that are further grouped into five dimensions or subscales that includes respectful deference to others (12 items), assurance of human presence (12 items), positive connectedness (9 items), professional knowledge and skill (5 items), and attentiveness to other's experience (4 items). In this study the following scale was adopted: 1=never; 2=occasionally; 3=usually; 4=always.

Internal consistency was demonstrated by a Cronbach's alpha of .974 (Wolf et al., 1998). This corresponds with findings of a study done by Hayes and Ball (2007) who used the tool with more than 200 trauma patients in a southeastern US hospital. Their Cronbach's alpha was 0.98.

### **Data Gathering Procedure**

As a protocol, approval of the conduct of the study was obtained from the Graduate School Dean of St. Paul University Philippines. After getting the Dean's approval, a letter requesting permission to conduct the study and float the questionnaires to the nurse administrators and staff nurses was obtained from the Medical Center Chief of the Cagayan Valley Medical Center, Tuguegarao City.

Following formal approval of the permission to conduct the study from the Medical Center Chief, the researcher gave personally the packet containing the cover letter and the Leadership Behavior Checklist, to the Nurse Administrators. Another packet containing the cover letter, the Leadership Behavior Checklist and Caring Behavior Inventory was also given to the staff nurses.

The completed questionnaires were retrieved personally by the researcher. The completion and return of the questionnaire by the participants are indicative of their consent to participate in the study.

### **Data Analysis**

All data were aggregated and were statistically treated using the Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS 15.0). Descriptive Statistics was used to measure the leadership behavior of nurse administrators and the caring behaviors of the staff nurses. These include frequency count, percentage and mean.

The Leadership Behavior Checklist (LBC) consists of 61 items scored in Likert format ranging from 1 (I have not yet started to do this.) to 4 (I have done this very well.). Scoring the LBC involves:

(1). Calculating the total number of points for each of the nine

factors measured on the instrument and entering each score, called the raw score, in the space provided in the table below:

Leadership Factor	Raw Score
Communicating Purpose and Direction	
Communicating and Behaving According to Values	
Showing Enthusiasm for People	
Instilling in People the Belief They can be Powerful	
Being consistent in the Face of Adversity	
Planning and Leading Change	
Releasing Potential and Energy	
Creating a Flexible and "Ready-For-Change" Culture	
Developing Leaders in the Organization	

(2). Determining a "Converted Score" for each factor involves finding the raw score range in the columns of the table below. Table entries are raw score ranges for each factor.

Categories of Leadership Behavior	Converted Score = 1	Converted Score = 2	Converted Score = 3	Converted Score = 4
Communicating Purpose and Direction	(8-12)	(13-20)	(21-28)	(29 or higher)
Communicating and Behaving According to Values	(10-15)	(16-25)	(26-35)	(36 or higher)
Showing Enthusiasm for People	(6-9)	(10-15)	(16-21)	(22 or higher)
Instilling in People the Belief They are Powerful	(7-11)	(12-18)	(19-24)	(25 or higher)

(table continues)

The SPUP Graduate School Research Journal

Table (continued)				
Being Consistent in the Face of Adversity	(3-5)	(6-8)	(9-11)	(12 or higher)
Planning and Leading Change	(8-12)	(13-20)	(21-28)	(22 or higher)
Releasing Potential and Energy	(7-11)	(12-18)	(19-24)	(25 or higher)
Creating a Flexible and "Ready-for- Change" Culture	(8-12)	(13-20)	(21-28)	(29 or higher)
Developing Leaders in the Organization	(4-6)	(7-10)	(11-14)	(15 or higher)

(3). Entering the Converted Score for each factor in the table below:

	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	- 1
--	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	-----

Scores from each factor range from Level Four (the highest) through Level One (the lowest). In terms of leadership effectiveness, factor scores of 3 and 4 indicate areas of strength, whereas scores of 1 and 2 indicate opportunities for improvement. In general, the more scores of 3 and 4 that an individual has, the more likely that he/she is engaged in behaviors that are known to be characteristics of effective leaders.

To give more meaning to the findings of this study, the instrument used arbitrary descriptive values for each of the categories. These descriptive values are very competent (4), competent (3), needs improvement (2) and incompetent (1).

The converted scores for each dimension of leadership behaviors were manifested by the nurse administrators with respect to the 9 dimensions of leadership determined by the converted scores. The

converted scores were further interpreted using the given table:

Converted Score	Desc	criptive Value
4	Ctronath	Very Highly Manifested
3	Strength	Highly Manifested
2	Mooknoos	Less Manifested
1	Weakness	Not Manifested

The frequency and percentage were used to present the nurses' profile in terms of their Caring Behavior which is based on the qualitative interpretation of their individual mean scores for each dimension. The qualitative interpretation was based on the given scale:

Mean Range	Qualitative Interpretation
3.25 – 4.00	I have done this very well./ Very High Manifested
2.50 - 3.24	I have done this somewhat well./ Highly Manifested
1.75 - 2.49	I need some improvement./ Less Manifested
1.00 - 1.74	I have not yet started to do this./ Not Manifested

To test the hypothesis that there is no significant difference in the leadership behavior of the nurse administrators as assessed by the staff nurses and the nurse administrators themselves, Chi-Square test was used. Likewise, this was used to test for the significant difference on the caring behaviors of the staff nurses when grouped according to their unit of assignment, and to determine if there is a significant correlation between the leadership behaviors of the nurse administrators and the caring behaviors of their staff nurses.

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### Participants' Profile

The regular staff nurses in Cagayan Valley Medical Center were young adults ranging from 21-40 years of age and for the distribution of nurse administrators, majority were from ages 31-50 years which denote that nurse administrators were among the senior age range compared to the regular staff nurses.

For the distribution of nurse managers and staff according to unit of assignment, it showed that the nursing service workforce was proportionately distributed in Cutting and Non-Cutting Areas. The bulk of the nursing manpower is assigned in the Non-cutting Areas in which the General wards, Out-Patient Department, and Emergency Department belonged.

For the length of service, staff nurses have shorter experience in the hospital as compared to nurse administrators. This suggests that nurse administrators are far more experienced than that of regular staff nurses.

### **Leadership Behavior of Nurse Administrators**

Nurse administrators were likely to demonstrate the leadership behaviors as defined by the nine dimensions. This finding supports that nurse administrators influence the strategic direction of the organization through their inputs regarding service delivery, resource allocation, workforce planning and devilment, governance arrangements and clinical quality assurance (White, 2011).

# Comparative Analysis on the Assessment of the Staff Nurses and Nurse Administrators on the Leadership Behavior of Nurse Administrators

There is a significant difference in the assessment of staff nurses and the nurse administrators on the leadership behavior of the nurse administrators in terms of the following leadership behaviors: communicating and behaving according to values; showing enthusiasm for people; instilling in people the belief they are powerful; creating a flexible and "Ready-for-change" culture and developing leaders in the organization.

This finding supports the results of a study by Kleinman, (2004) which concluded that nurse managers perceived that they demonstrated a higher frequency of the leadership behaviors as compared with staff nurses.

However, no significant difference was observed on the assessment of the two groups with respect to the following leadership dimensions: communicating purpose and direction; being consistent in the face of adversity; planning and leading change; and releasing potential and energy.

# Assessment of Staff Nurses' Caring Behaviors as Measured by the Caring Behavior Inventory

Staff nurses were likely to exercise behaviors mentioned in all dimensions of the Caring Behavior Inventory.

# Staff Nurses Caring Behavior as Measured by the Five Dimensions of the Caring Behavior when Grouped According to Profile Variables

There is no significant difference in the caring behavior of nurses when grouped according to age, unit of assignment and length of service in all dimensions of caring behavior.

### Comparative Analysis on the Relationship Between Leadership Behaviors of Nurse Administrators and the Caring Behaviors of their Staff Nurses

There is a significant relationship on the assessment of staff nurses and the nurse administrators on the leadership behaviors of nurse administrators in terms of the following dimensions of leadership behavior: communicating purpose and direction; showing enthusiasm for people; instilling the belief they are powerful; being consistent in the face of adversity, releasing potential and energy, creating a flexible and "Ready for Change" culture and developing leaders in the organization.

However, no significant relationship was observed on the assessment of the two groups of assessors with respect to communicating and behaving according to values and planning and leading change leadership dimensions.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the findings of the study, the following conclusions were derived:

The Nurse Administrators of Cagayan Valley Medical Center are likely to exhibit competence in the way they mobilize the Staff Nurses in all categories of leadership behaviors. Meanwhile, there is just a slight shift on their assessment on the degree of competence experienced by their staff nurses.

The Regular Staff Nurses of Cagayan Valley Medical Center manifest their nursing care in accordance with the behaviors in the Caring Behavior Inventory. This manifestation of behavior proves that the staff nurses are aware of their institutions' vision and mission as a health care provider towards the fulfillment of the demands of their clients. This means that there is currently a considerable emphasis on the provision of patient-centered care in all aspects of healthcare to improve quality and increase client satisfaction (Michie et al., 2003).

### RECOMMENDATIONS

In view of the results, discussions and the conclusions derived from this study, the following recommendations were made:

- Staff Nurses of the Cagayan Valley Medical Center shall maintain the genuine behavior reflected on this assessment which shall contribute to a valuable impression of patients that the worth of caring of nurses is instilled in the culture of the hospital.
- 2. As such exemplary behaviors of staff nurses, the Nurse Administrators of the hospital could serve as the backbone of the Nursing Service to stand as a true leader in which the expressed behaviors were inculcated in every aspect of care and leadership while serving as an icon for the future administrators.
- 3. The Nurse Training Officer, being the one who plans the activities of nurses shall adopt and highlight in every nursing program the Caring Behaviors of Staff Nurses and the Leadership Behaviors of Nurse Administrators that every member of the Nursing Service must recognize in every aspect of nursing care.

- 4. As the mother of the Nursing Service, the Chief Nursing Officer should continuously embrace the values of Leadership and Caring in the incessant dynamics of Nursing Care towards the vision of a Globally Competent Nursing Service.
- 5. The Medical Center Chief shall continuously support the activities relevant to the conservation and development of Leadership Behavior of Nurse Managers and Caring Behavior of Staff Nurses through continuing professional development and research in order to emerge as a champion in Nursing Service.
- 6. For Affiliating Schools and the Academe, this study shall likewise be an instrument to be developed and utilized for students as they spearhead the foundation of future Nurses' Behaviors which accord to the demands of the profession and of the community people.
- 7. It is highly recommended for future researchers to have a parallel research on Caring Behaviors of Staff Nurses in CVMC and to compare with the Caring Behaviors of Staff Nurses as assessed by patients admitted in all Clinical or certain clinical areas.

### References

- Anderson, J., & Yale, B. (2016). Welcome to the caritas coach education program presentation A journey of transformation. Watson Caring science Institute.
- Attia, A. A. M., & Miligi, E. S. (2015). Leadership behaviors as perceived by pediatric nurses and its effect on their satisfaction and performance. *IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science*, 6(2), 01-10. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/54c0/818132bfe4bc289372efe2eb9d2222652f40.pdf
- Boykin, A., & Schoenhofer, S. (2001). The role of nursing leadership in creating caring environments in health care delivery systems. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, 25(3), 1-7.
- Burns, N., & Grove, S. K. (2005). *The practice of nursing research: Conduct, critique, and utilization.* St. Louis, Mo: Elsevier/Saunders.

- Burns, N,. & Grove, S. K. (2007). *Understanding Nursing Research: Building an Evidence-based Practice (4th ed.)*. Saunders Elsevier.
- Cagayan Valley Medical Center. (2015). Brief History of Cagayan Valley Medical Center. *Handbook of Standard Policies and Procedures*.
- Davidson, P. M., Elliot, D., & Daly, J. (2006). Clinical leadership in contemporary clinical practice: Implications for nursing in Australia. *Journal of Nursing Management, 14*(3), 180-187. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2934.2006.00555.x
- Department of Health. (2008). Staffing Pattern. *Nursing Service Administration Manual.*
- Fardellone, C., Musil, C. M., Smith, E., & Click, E. R. (2014). Leadership behaviors of frontline staff nurses. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *45*(11), 506-513. doi: 10.3928/00220124-20141023-05
- Frankel, A. (n.d.). What leadership styles should nurses develop? Leadership Skills for Nurses. Nursing Times Leadership Supplement.
- Hajinezhad, M. E., & Azodi, P. (2014). Nursing caring behaviors from patients' and nurses' perspective: A comparative study. *European Online Journal of Natural and Social Sciences, 3*(4), 1010-1017. Retrieved from http://european-science.com/eojnss/article/view/1300/pdf
- Haynes, J. S., & Tyler-Ball, S. (2007). Perceptions of nurses' caring behaviors by trauma patients. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, *14*(4), 187-190.
- Kleinman, C. (2004). The relationship between managerial leadership behaviors and staff nurse retention. *Hospital Topics*, *82*(4), 2-9. DOI: 10.3200/HTPS.82.4.2-9
- Manojlovich, M. (2005). The effect of nursing leadership on hospital nurses' professional practice behaviors. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, *35*(7-8), 366-374.

- Mustard, L. W. (2002). Caring and competency. *JONA's Healthcare Law, Ethics and Regulation, 4*(2), 36-43.
- Michie, S., Miles, J., Weinman, J. (2003). Patient-centredness in chronic illness: what is it and does it matter? *Patient Education and Counseling*, *51*(3). 197-206.
- Mizuno, M., Ozawa, M., Evans, D., Okada, A., & Takeo, K. (2005). Caring behaviors perceived by nurses in a Japanese hospital. National College of Nursing, Japan. Retrieved from http://www.ncn.ac.jp/academic/020/2005/2005jns-ncnj05.pdf
- Pellicer, L. O. (2003). *Caring enough to lead: How reflective thought leads to moral leadership (2nd ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Corwin Press.
- Sherman, R., & Pross, E. (2010). Growing future nurse leaders to build and sustain healthy work environments at the unit level. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 15*(1). DOI: 10.3912/OJIN. Vol15No01Man01
- Watson, J. (2012). *Assessing and measuring caring in nursing and health sciences*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.
- Watson, J. (2006). Caring theory as an ethical guide to administrative and clinical practices. *Nursing Administration Quarterly, 30*(1). 48-55
- Williams, R. L., II, McDowell, J. B., & Kautz, D. D. (2011). A caring leadership model for nursing's future. *International Journal for Human Caring*, 15(1), 31-35.
- White, J. (2012). Reflections on strategic nurse leadership. *Journal of Nursing Management, 20*(7), 835-837. DOI: 10.1111/jonm.12007
- Wong, C. A., & Cummings, G. G. (2007). The relationship between nursing leadership and patient outcomes: a systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Management*, *21*(5), 709-724. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2007.00723.x

### CAREER MANAGEMENT OF THE PHILIPPINE MILITARY ACADEMY GRADUATES: BASIS FOR POLICY IMPROVEMENTS

### Charles V. Calucag Master in Public Administration

### **ABSTRACT**

This study attempts to determine how relevant are the programs of both the Philippine Military Academy (PMA) and the Armed Forces of the Philippines concerning the training, deployment and ultimately their career administration and development to the graduates of the Academy. It sought to determine the career management of the Philippine Military Academy graduates from 1997 to 2001 and aimed to determine the current status, assignments, designations, challenges while in the service and recommendations of the PMA graduates. The study made use of the mixed-method research design that involved 123 Army Officers who graduated from the Philippine Military Academy in the academic year 1997-1998 to 2000-2001 as participants. The study utilized the following instruments: the Career Management Assessment Tool, the Document Review Form and Work Life Balance or Fulfillment questionnaire, Compliance and Implementation auestionnaire. The officers' career compliance and personnel management implementation are at "moderate extent" on their career management. The officers have a "great extent" of fulfillment which is affected by the marital status, specifically on the relationship category. The participants wanted some improvements in terms of the policies on career management. The challenges experienced by the participants in the service can be appropriately improved though the implementation or enhancement of some policies on career management.

**Keywords**: Career management, Philippine military academy, army officers

### INTRODUCTION

The idea that an individual career management and the organizational career management when combined will result to a successful organization is absolutely true, though individual career management will solely depend on the person itself. There are different factors that affect a successful career; one of these is the support of the organization in the management of the career of the individual employee that enhances the development of every individual's career.

Individual Career Management is a process where an individual person is required to assess his/her own self, he/she must set the goals, and most importantly to take actions, and if it fails, there's a need to be reassessed or evaluated. Individual employee should set his/her personal compass for the future or make his/her personal roadmap to guide his actions to realize whatever dream he desires and to be fulfilled and ultimately be happy, whether in the aspects of health and wellness, financial security, and work/life balance.

Organizational Career Management is likewise a process where every company has the responsibility to take care on their employees' welfare, it has different roles to play to motivate their employees, to plan their career, coach, clarify concerns, assist in their goal setting and acts as an adviser.

In the military organization, career management of the officer corps is accomplished by following the promotion system. The AFP maintains a standard career progression for its officer corps. All officers in the AFP start as second Lieutenant and are promoted based on time in grade and performance through the rank of Colonel. It manages its officers by year group or as a class. A year group or a class is a group of officers who are commissioned in a specific fiscal year.

For the AFP, it follows the concept of the proper selection of officers for training and education opportunities which is the initial step of the promotion process. Training and education is a function of career management such that after graduation from such courses, selected officers are designated or assigned to key positions which will eventually qualify them for promotion if they perform very well.

For almost two decades, the Academy has produced several female graduates who are now serving in the different branches of service in the Armed Forces of the Philippines. It is quite clear that the Philippine Military Academy and the Armed Forces of the Philippines have already a vast experience of having female trainees and eventually serving in the military. Although several adjustments in its systems and policies were already made along the way to enhance the training and deployment of these female officers, a formal study is yet to be done to come up with appropriate findings, suggestions and recommendations to improve the current systems.

In comparison to foreign Armed Forces, the gender issue is no longer a problem. They have already accomplished much. Specifically, in the United States Armed Forces, all positions in the military are already open to both genders. In the Armed Forces of the Philippines, the current policies and regulations stating that duties of female soldiers are restricted to administrative and non-combatant duties are still in effect. Researches and studies, both foreign and local, have shown that female officers are capable of performing not only administrative but also combat duties in the field.

Hence, this study attempts to determine how relevant are the programs of both the Philippine Military Academy and the Armed Forces of the Philippines concerning the training, deployment and ultimately their career administration and development as graduates of the Academy.

#### Statement of the Problem

Generally, the study sought to determine the career management of the Philippine Military Academy graduates from 1997 to 2001. It aimed to determine the current status, assignments, designations, challenges while in the service and recommendations of the graduates of Philippine Military Academy (PMA).

Specifically, the study sought to answer the following questions:

1. What is the profile of the participants in terms of:

1.1 age;

- 1.2 gender;
- 1.3 civil status:
- 1.4 rank;
- 1.5 Armed Forces of the Philippines Occupational Specialty (AFPOS);
- 1.6 years in military service; and
- 1.7 year of graduation?
- 2. What is the promotion rate of the participants?
- 3. What is the extent of compliance to the career pattern of the participants?
- 4. Is there a significant difference on the extent of compliance to the career pattern when grouped according to the profile variables?
- 5. What is the participants' extent of fulfillment in terms of:
  - 5.1 health:
  - 5.2 spiritual;
  - 5.3 relationship;
  - 5.4 work-life balance; and
  - 5.5 financial?
- 6. Is there a significant difference in the participants' extent of fulfillment when grouped according to profile?
- 7. What is the extent of implementation of the policies pertaining to career management?
- 8. Is there a significant difference in the extent of implementation of the policies pertaining to career management when grouped according to gender?
- 9. What are the challenges experienced by the officers in the service in terms of:
  - 9.1 deployment;
  - 9.2 workload;
  - 9.3 relationship towards juniors/seniors/peers; and
  - 9.4 physical and medical problems?

- 10. What are the policies affecting the officers in the AFP?
- 11. What are the participants' suggestions and recommendations to improve the administration and programs for the female officers in the armed forces?
- 12. What policy can be introduced to improve the career management of the graduates?

#### **METHODOLOGY**

# **Research Design**

This study made use of mixed-methods. Mixed methods is a research approach, in which the researcher collects, analyzes and integrates both quantitative and qualitative data in a single study (Creswell, 2013). In this study, the researcher collected the quantitative data, specifically the profile, promotion rate and compliance to the career pattern of each class and the assessed extent of implementation of the policies on career management. For the qualitative data, this was used to find out the participants' current status in the military service, experiences, challenges encountered for the duration of the service and gather recommendations to improve the system of training, policies on career management in the military.

# Participants of the Study

The participants of the study are the Army officers who graduated from the Philippine Military Academy of the academic year 1997-1998 to 2000-2001. From the total number of graduates, all of the female army graduates who are still active in the service and have graduated from 1997 to 2001 were included in the study.

Table 1
Distribution of Participants When Grouped According to Year of Graduation

Batch (Classes)	Frequency	Percentage
2001	28	22.76
2000	41	33.33
1999	18	14.64
1998	10	8.13
1997	26	21.14
Total	123	100.00

There were one hundred twenty-three officers (123) who responded and answered the questionnaire. The number was taken from the active officers with the total number of three hundred forty-five (345).

#### Instrumentation

The study utilized the following instruments: the Career Management Assessment Tool, the Document Review Form and Work life balance or Fulfillment questionnaire. Compliance and implementation questionnaires were also utilized.

The Career Management Assessment Tool has three parts: Part I covered the profile of the participants which include the age, civil status, rank, AFPFOS and number of years in the military service. Part II covered the assignment and designations of the participants, units they have been assigned to and the inclusive dates. Part III covered the problems or challenges experienced by the participants in terms of deployment/ settlement; workload, relationships, physical and medical problems, policies concerning female officers in the AFP and programs related to female officers in the AFP together with the suggestions and recommendations to improve the administration and programs for the female officers in the Armed Forces.

Another tool is the Document Review Form. The researcher validated the participants' profiles from the Army Personnel

Management Centre specifically the officers' summary of information. It is from there that the latest promotion of the officers was checked so that the promotion rates of each batch can be computed.

The third tool was the Extent of Fulfillment, Compliance and Implementation questionnaire. Part I covered the extent of fulfillment. It has 25 statements in which the participants can rate as strongly agree (5) to strongly disagree (1). The questionnaire measures the extent of fulfillment in the different areas, specifically health (1-5), spiritual (6-10), relationship (11-15), work-life balance (16-20), and financial (21-25). The items from the questionnaire were taken from the review of related literatures on fulfillment.

For part II, it asked the question, what is your extent of compliance to your career pattern? The percentage computation is taken from the number of the participants with the degree of extent chosen over the total number of the participants, multiplied by 100.

And in part III, it asked the participants to rate the extent of implementation of the policy on career management. The percentage computation is taken from the number of the participants with the degree of extent chosen over the total number of the participants, multiplied by 100.

### **Data Gathering Procedure**

Initially, the proposal of the study was approved by St. Paul University Philippines Ethics Review Committee. After which, a visit was made to the Philippine Military Academy Registrar's Office to obtain the list of graduates specifically from 1997-2001.

To obtain the list of current and actual officers in the active service, the researcher contacted the Army Personnel Management Office. Personal meeting with the participants was conducted from their respective office assignments in the Armed Forces of the Philippines and informed consent was sought. The objectives of the study were explained along with the procedures of the study. The benefits of the study were also explained to the participants. Their consent to access their personal data from the personnel office was sought. Voluntary

participation, privacy and confidentiality of data were emphasized and assured. For those who were accessible to the researcher, the contact numbers and emails were taken from the personnel office. The informed consent form was emailed to them and the researcher exerted effort to contact them to ensure informed consent before data collection started.

The Career Management Assessment Tool for the participants was distributed through the use of mail and electronic mail. For the collection of the accomplished survey questionnaires, the researcher personally retrieved them wherein the participants were requested to send through mail or electronic mail.

For the promotion rate, the percentage of graduates promoted from one rank to another was taken from the promotional data list and seniority lineal list of graduates of each class. For the Extent of Compliance to Career Pattern, the percentage is taken from the participants with the degree of extent chosen over the total number of participants multiplied by 100. After which, the tally was taken for the computation of the percentage and likewise, for the assessed extent of implementation of the policies.

# **Data Analysis**

To analyze and interpret the gathered data, the following statistical tools were used:

- 1. Frequency count and percentage distribution were used to determine the profile of the participants and total male and female graduates within the five-year period. The same statistical tool was used to determine the profile of the participants in terms of personal, service related information, and promotion rate.
- 2. The promotion rate was computed based on the total number of officers of each class by considering the actual number of officers promoted to the next rank after a time period over the total number of officers of the class multiplied by 100. Example is: (Major to LTC) actual number of officers promoted over total number of officers per class multiplied by 100%.
- 3. Mean was used to determine the extent of fulfillment, compliance

to career pattern, extent of implementation of the policies on career management. The table below was used in describing the extent of fulfillment, compliance and implementation of the policies on career management.

Table 2
Mean Range and Its Qualitative Description

Mean	Qualitative Description
4.20 - 5.00	Very Great Extent
3.40 - 4.19	Great Extent
2.60 - 3.39	Moderate Extent
1.80 - 2.59	Less Extent
1.00 - 1.79	Least Extent

- 4. The use of ANOVA is to test significant difference in the extent of fulfillment, the extent of compliance to the career pattern and the extent of implementation to the policy on career management when participants are grouped according to profile variables.
- 5. Thematic Analysis was utilized to analyze the challenges and recommendations provided by the participants.

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# **Profile of the Participants**

The participants are composed of PMA Graduates from class 1997 to 2001. The total number of active army officers that were considered in the survey is 345. However, only 123 responded. Other officers who were not included in the survey are in foreign schooling/posting or deployment. Some are on the process of retirement while others are out of contact. On age profile, majority belong to age bracket 41 to 45. On gender, 94% are male officers and only 6% are female. On civil status profile, the married officers comprise 98%. On rank profile of the participants, 55% are LTC and 45% are Major. For the military occupational specialty (AFPOS) 60% belong to the infantry, 10% for

cavalry, 7% for military intelligence, 6% for ordinance service, 4% for engineering and field artillery, 3% on signal corps and quartermaster service and only 2% for finance service. For the profile of participants per batch (class) based on the years in service and year, graduated class 1997 is 21%, class 1998 is 8%, class 1999 is 15%, class 2000 is 33% and class 2001 is 23%.

### **Promotion Rate of Participants**

The promotion rate of the participants is computed by class. It is the number of promoted officers over the total number in class multiplied by 100. Class 1997 has 95% rate of promotion, class 1998 has 88.88%, class 1999 has 89.53% while class 2000 and 2001 has 100% rate in their current rank.

### **Extent of Compliance to the Career Pattern of the Participants**

The participants have a "moderate extent" of compliance with their career pattern set by the army.

# Test for Significant Difference in the Extent of Compliance to the Career Pattern When Grouped According to Profile Variables

There is no significant difference in the participants' compliance on the extent of career pattern when grouped according to age, gender, civil status, rank, year in service, year of graduation. However, there is a significant difference with respect to AFPOS.

#### **Extent of Fulfillment**

The extent of fulfillment of the participants in terms of health, spiritual, work is at "great extent," relationship and financial are at "very great extent." Overall extent of fulfillment is "great extent."

# Test for Significant Difference in the Extent of Fulfillment When Grouped According to Profile Variables

Based on the findings, there is no significant difference in the participants' extent of fulfillment when grouped according to age,

gender, rank, AFPOS, year in the service and year of graduation. However, there is a significant difference when grouped according to civil status.

## **Challenges Experienced by the Officers**

The challenges encountered by the officers include lack of administrative and logistical support, social isolation, lack of personnel and multi-tasking, mismatch of acquired specialty, transition of personnel, professional treatment among colleagues and poor health facilities.

### **Extent of Implementation of the Policies**

Based on the findings, the personnel management office for the career management of army officers gained 59.35% implementation rate which is "moderate extent" as assessed by the participants and 19.51% with "great extent" as the second highest rate of implementation.

# Test for Significant Difference in the Extent of the Implementation of the Policies to Career Management When Grouped According to Gender

The extent of the implementation of the policies to career management with regards to gender is at "moderate extent" with a mean 3.28 for female and 2.98 for male. The extent of implementation of the policies rated by female officers is significantly higher than the male officers.

# Suggestions and Recommendations to Improve the Administration and Programs for the Female Officers in the AFP

The following are the suggestions given: Increase the number of female personnel in the AFP; improve leadership training and development programs for women in the early stages of their careers; actively solicit feedback from women, particularly junior women, about how to address the challenges they face, and implement some of their recommended solutions; establish a public dialogue between the most senior military and private sector women on improving women's

leadership and career development; jointly conduct leadership and skills programs for female high school and college students; help female veterans transition effectively and fairly to the private sector; include men in the solution, through initiatives like the UN's "He or She" campaign; ensure that the first women to serve in combat positions are set up for success; and consider more formal mentorship programs for women.

#### The Proposed Policies to be Reviewed

The following are the different policies that need enhancements and improvements in the career management:

First is improvement of promotion policy in relation to the quantitative rating system. More consideration or points should be given to the degree of responsibility and sensitivity of assignment.

Second is attrition policy should be reviewed and strictly implemented.

Third is policy on housing - sincere and equitable awarding of quarters without familiarity and 'palakasan' system.

Fourth is equal opportunity in offering foreign schooling and should be based on merit system.

Lastly, is the rotation policy (assignment and re assignment). Number of years in certain areas of deployment (geographical assignment in Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao).

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the findings of the study, the researcher concludes that the officers' career compliance and personnel management implementation are at "moderate extent" on their career management. The fulfillment of the officers is to a "great extent" and affected by the marital status, specifically on the relationship category. The participants wanted some improvement in terms of the policies on career management. The challenges experienced by the participants in

the service can be appropriately improved though the implementation or enhancement of some policies on career management.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Considering the findings of the study, the researcher recommends the following:

- 1. Personnel management office of the Armed Forces of the Philippines, may consider to:
  - Increase the number of female personnel in the AFP.
  - Consider more formal mentorship programs for women.
  - Provide facility support to new assignments like quarters, access to school and good medical facilities. - Prioritize mobility and logistical support to reporting personnel.
- 2. Human resource department,
  - May assign officers to units with specific functions in consideration with their respective occupational specialty to address common concerns on workload; Strict implementation of attrition policies and directives.
  - Enhancement of the current SOI reflecting the minimum career management requirement with corresponding QRS points/rating.

For future researchers to consider the specifics of promotion rate of each level of the rank, and to improve on the procedures of this study and to cover other batches or classes and also include the officers coming from the OCS and commission.

#### References

Bell, M. M., Nelson, J. S., Spann, S. M., Molloy, C. J., Britt, S. L., & Nelson Goff, B. S. (2014) The impact of financial resources on soldier's well being. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 25(1), 41-52. Retrieved from http://afcpe.org/assets/pdf/volume\_25\_1/04088\_pg41-52.pdf

- Darden, J. T. (2016). For stronger military, draft women too. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/jessica-trisko-darden/military-draft-womenb10050838.html
- Gokdemir, O., & Tahsin, E. (2014). Factors that influence the life satisfaction of women living in the northern Cyprus. Social Indicators Research, 115(3), 1071-1085. DOI: 10.1007/s11205-013-0265-3
- Graves, R. T. (2005). A comparative study of the life satisfaction of early retirement military officers (Doctoral dissertation). Texas A & M University. Retrieved from http://oaktrust.library.tamu.edu/bitstream/handle/1969.1/2581/etd-tamu-2005B-EPSY-Graves.pdf?sequence=1
- Gray, L. A. (2015). Exploring dimensions of well-being among spouses of active-duty service members (Doctoral dissertation). Virginia Commonwealth University. Retrieved from https:// scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/3690/
- Hall, R. A. (2016). Unveiled: Narratives from muslim women in the Philippine ARMY. Retrieved from http://resmilitaris.net/ ressources/10227/17/res\_militaris\_article\_arcala\_hall\_muslim\_ gender narratives in the philippine army.pdf
- Keeling, M., Wessely, S., Dandeker, C., Jones, N., & Fear, N. T. (2015). Relationship difficulties among UK military personnel: The impact of socio-demographic, military and deployment-related factors. King's College London. Retrieved from https://www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/2015/Keeling2015.pdf
- Keppetipola, M. (2012). An analysis of the work-life balance of the Sri Lankan military officers. Retrieved from http://www.kdu.ac.lk/southern\_campus/images/documents/symposium/symposium2012/papers/ts/AnAnalysisofTheWork-LifeBalanceof TheSriLankanMilitaryOfficers.pdf

- Lee, S. U. (2014). Police officer job satisfaction Officer-Sergeant educational levels: A relational demography perspective (Masters' thesis). Illinois State University. Retrieved from https://ir.library. illinoisstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1236&context=etd
- Manila Times. (2011). AFP selection and promotion system: Choosing the best qualified. Retrieved from https://www.pressreader.com/philippines/manila-times/20111013/281629597028664
- Marshall, D. & Pichette, Y. (2017). Spiritual resiliency in the Canadian armed forces. *Canadian Military Journal*, *17*(2). Retrieved from http://www.journal.forces.gc.ca/Vol17/no2/PDF/CMJ172Ep26. pdf
- Philippine Commission on Women. (2014, December 19). Promoting the use of gender-sensitive language in the drafting and review of legislative measures (PCW MC 2014-06). Retrieved from https://www.pcw.gov.ph/law/pcw-memorandum-circular-no-2014-06-promoting-use-gender-sensitive-language-drafting-and-review-legislative-measures
- Philippine Commission on Women. (2011). Guidelines for the creation, strengthening, and institutionalization of the Gender and Development (GAD) Focal Point System (PCW MC 2011-01). Retrieved from https://pcw.gov.ph/law/pcw-memorandum-circular-no-2011-01
- Perić, D., Plančak, D., Bulj, M., Tudor, V., & Špalj, S. (2013). Health-related quality of life in soldiers in Croatia: Relationship with combat readiness and psychological dimensions. *Cent Eur J Public Health*, 21(4), 207–212. Retrieved from https://cejph.szu.cz/pdfs/cjp/2013/04/06.pdf
- Peric, D., Plancak, D., Bulj, M., Tudor, V., & Spalj, S. (2013). Health-related quality of life in soldiers in Croatia: Relationship with combat readiness and psychological dimensions. Cent Europe Journal of Public Health 2013; 21 (4): 207-212. Retrieved at http://apps.szu.cz/svi/cejph/archiv/2013-4-06-full.pdf

- Rønn, M. (2010). The relationship between career management and organisational commitment: The moderating effect of openness to experience (Master's Thesis), University of Stellenbosch.
- Skimmyhorn, W. (2014). The financial welfare of military households. *Insights: Financial Capability*. FINRA Investor Education Foundation. Retrieved from https://www.saveandinvest.org/sites/default/files/Issue-Brief-The-Financial-Welfare-of-Military-Households-Descriptive-Evidence-from-Recent-Surveys.pdf
- Wesarat, P., Sharif, M. Y., & Majid, A. H. A. (2014). A review of organizational and individual career management: A dual perspective. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies* 4(1). DOI: https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v4i1.5331

# DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION OF A PROPOSED WORKTEXT IN SOLID MENSURATION

# **Erovita Teresita Bacud Agustin**Doctor in Mathematics Education

#### **ABSTRACT**

The main purpose of this study is to develop and evaluate a proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration along the quality of elements: course content, manner of presentation and usefulness of the material. The participants consisted of 50 freshmen engineering students from the University of Saint Louis, Summer 2016. A quasi - experimental method was used to determine whether the use of worktext in teaching and learning Solid Mensuration will improve students' understanding and performance. The data were collected from two groups (control and experimental), analyzed and were interpreted using mean, standard deviation and weighted mean and independent samples t-test. The findings showed that the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration is effective in enhancing students' understanding of the concepts in Solid Mensuration. Also, the experts and the students have similar assessment along the different quality of elements of the proposed worktext; therefore the proposed worktext can be utilized as a supplementary instructional tool by both the students and teachers for facilitating teaching and learning process in Solid Mensuration.

**Keywords**: Development, evaluation, worktext, solid mensuration

#### INTRODUCTION

Solid Mensuration particularly in college is highly important in engineering and architecture applications. This course is used extensively in the practice of engineering. Knowledge of this course is a necessity for engineers in any project construction. Understanding objects in three-dimensional space helps engineers create models and scenarios and solve problems mathematically before actually using or building any resources. Some lessons in Solid Mensuration are too complicated to analyze, so it is difficult for the students to understand the subject (Lavador and Calderon, 2012). Indeed, teaching Solid Mensuration is one of the most challenging tasks among Mathematics teachers.

Solid Mensuration which is one of the major Mathematics courses in the engineering curriculum at the University of Saint Louis is a prerequisite of Differential Calculus. For the past years, students were exposed to the traditional method of learning the course. The lessons were presented in a lecture format where the teacher explains new concepts and then provides examples of the new concept. The only instrument of instruction was a textbook. As cited by Gak (2010), a textbook is used as a standard source of information for formal study of a subject and an instrument for teaching and learning. However, the researcher, with her years of experience teaching Solid Mensuration, observed that with this method and medium of instruction, majority of the students consider the course to be difficult which consequently caused them to perform poorly in the course. As a result, an increasing number of engineering students at the end of the grading period get a failing grade as indicated in the percentage of failures of 14.61% from SY 2011 - 2012 to SY 2015 - 2016 Thus, the teaching and learning of Solid Mensuration should be further improved.

With the current shift from Inputs-based Education (IBE) to Outcomes-based Education (OBE), particularly in the tertiary level, it is necessary for the teachers to carefully design activities placing the students at the center of all educational planning. Teachers handling Solid Mensuration must therefore use instruction suited to the level of understanding of their students. They must employ current instructional materials as tools to make instruction more effective,

efficient and appealing to the learners. One way to enhance instruction is to provide the learners with carefully developed lessons. Teachers must design activities that engage students in the learning process, activities that build mastery of concepts in Solid Mensuration and consequently, activities that support learners with varying levels of ability and skills.

Numerous studies over the years have introduced a range of instructional materials such as worktexts, workbooks and modules to meet the learners' needs and equip them with skills required for their level (Adora, 2014).

Selga (2013) explained that worktexts are helpful in keeping one child occupied while working with another. As revealed in her study, the proposed worktext was found to be valid. She further concluded that worktexts contribute to the achievement of specific objectives of the subject and provide activities for the development of higher cognitive skills. Worktexts of better quality include problem-solving exercises that encourage higher-level thinking in addition to the traditional fill-in-the-blank and define-the-term exercises (Knapp, 2006).

Auditor and Naval (2014) addressed the need to improve the performance of all students across schools as manifested in the results of the 2012 National Achievement Test (NAT). The main purpose of their study was to develop and validate physics modules based on the least mastered competencies and assess the impact of the developed modules on students' knowledge acquisition. As revealed in their study, the developed modules were found acceptable for the 10th grade physics students. Also, the developed set of modules was found to be effective in terms of knowledge acquisition. Thus, they recommended that the adoption of the developed module can be a useful tool for teaching and learning basic physics.

The integration of enrichment activities such as computer animations in the proposed instructional material generated a more innovative and interesting learning environment. Thus, through this material, students found Mathematics learning more meaningful and interesting (Dacanay, 2010).

Worksheets are materials by which students are given transaction steps regarding what they are supposed to learn. Also, they include activities which give the students main responsibility in their own learning. Thus worksheets are known to help students gain scientific process skills such as setting up experimental mechanism, recording data, interpreting the data, and so on so that they can conceptualize the concepts in their mind (Kurt & Akdeniz, 2002).

Books in Solid Mensuration which are available in the university library at the University of Saint Louis (USL) are limited, most of which are written by foreign authors and some are even old or outdated. The contents of the textbooks are not tailored to the specific attributes and interests of the engineering students at USL. The examples presented in the textbooks are sometimes irrelevant to the students and often do not reflect the interests and needs of students. The researcher observed that foreign books used terms that are not easily understood by students. In particular, students prefer terms that are commonly used in the local setting. She also noticed that there were books which contain limited examples having shortcuts in the discussion.

Realizing the need for a more effective supplementary material, the researcher developed a simplified instructional material in Solid Mensuration to enhance students' learning of the subject and to stimulate their interest in the subject for better achievement.

#### Statement of the Problem

The study aimed to determine the effectiveness of a proposed instructional material in the teaching and learning of Solid Mensuration.

Specifically, it sought to answer the following:

- 1. What are the pre-test mean performances of the students in the control and experimental groups?
- 2. What are the post-test mean performances of the students in the control and experimental groups?
- 3. Is there a significant difference between the:
  - 3.1 pre-test performances of students in the control and experimental groups?

- 3.2 post-test performances of students in the control and experimental groups?
- 3.3 pre-test and post-test performances of students in the control and experimental groups?
- 4. What is the assessment of the mathematics experts along the quality of elements of the proposed instructional material in Solid Mensuration in terms of:
  - 4.1 course content
  - 4.2 manner of presentation
  - 4.3 usefulness of the material?
- 5. What is the assessment of the students along the quality of elements of the proposed instructional material in Solid Mensuration in terms of:
  - 5.1 course content
  - 5.2 manner of presentation
  - 5.3 usefulness of the material?
- 6. Is there a significant difference on the assessment of the instructional material in Solid Mensuration between the experts and the students in terms of :
  - 6.1 course content
  - 6.2 manner of presentation
  - 6.3 usefulness of the material?

#### **METHODOLOGY**

# **Research Design**

The research design used in the study was quasi-experimental. Specifically, a pre-test and post-test of matched groups in which two different learning environments were compared to determine the effectiveness of the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration. The experimental group was taught using the proposed worktext while the control group was taught using the textbook in Solid Mensuration.

Group	Pre-test	Approach	Post-test
Е	01	X1	02
С	03	X2	04

Note. E = Experimental group; C = Control group; O1 = pre-test of the experimental group; O2 = post-test of the experimental group; O3 = pre-test of the control group taught; O4 = post-test of the control group; X1 = use of proposed worktext in teaching Solid Mensuration; X2 = use of textbook in teaching Solid Mensuration

# **Participants of the Study**

The participants of the study were composed of two groups.

Student-participants. Two classes of Solid Mensuration were offered last Summer 2016 to freshmen engineering students in the University of Saint Louis. Twenty-five participants were taken from each of the classes and were grouped into two – the experimental group and the control group. The participants of the two groups were identified and carefully matched based on their average grade in College Algebra and Plane & Spherical Trigonometry, which are pre-requisites of Solid Mensuration. Students with an average grade of 76 – 90 were included in the study. Result of the pre-test administered before the conduct of the study was also considered in the selection. The control group was randomly assigned to a class from 7:00 AM to 8:30 AM, MWF and from 8:30AM to 10:00AM, TTHS while the experimental group was randomly assigned to a class from 8:30AM to 10:00AM, MWF and from 7:00 AM to 8:30 AM, TTHS.

Experts. This group was composed of 3 Mathematics instructors, 3 Engineering Sciences instructors and 3 external experts. The Mathematics instructors and Engineering Sciences instructors were faculty members from the University of Saint Louis while the external experts were from the University of Cagayan Valley (UCV), St. Paul University Philippines (SPUP) and USL – High School Department. This group assessed the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration in terms of content, manner of presentation and usefulness of the material.

#### Instrumentation

The research instruments that were used in this study are the questionnaire and pre-test and post-test. The results were supplemented with data from an informal interview.

The questionnaire on worktext evaluation tool was administered to the teacher-participants to assess and to evaluate the quality of the proposed instructional material in terms of content, manner of presentation and usefulness of material. The same set of questionnaire was administered to the experimental group after the try-out period of the material.

The worktext evaluation tool that was used in the study was adopted from the evaluation tool used by Romero (2008) in his study "The Development and Validation of a Proposed Worktext in Biostatistics". He aimed to assess the effectiveness of a Proposed Worktext in Biostatistics in terms of content, manner of presentation and usefulness of material.

The main instrument used in this study was the pre-test/post-test administered to the student-participants. The pre-test/post-test was piloted for validation to the students who already finished Solid Mensuration. The pre-post test was piloted for validation to the students who already finished Solid Mensuration. The pre-test/post-test consisted of a 45-item multiple choice test that specifically measured the effectiveness of the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration and the competencies required of students in Solid Mensuration. A table of specification was prepared for fair distribution of items among the topics in Solid Mensuration.

Unstructured/informal interviews were likewise conducted with the experts to elicit comments and suggestions to further improve the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration.

The initial draft of the proposed worktext consisted of six chapters. Each chapter included the following parts (1) Topic which is the lesson to be learned; (2) Learning Outcomes which describes what the learner should know and be able to do at the end of each

lesson; (3) Concept Development which allows students to investigate, explore and discover concepts on their own; (3) Key Concepts which is a summary of ideas or concepts drawn from students' discovery, investigation and exploration; (4) Guided Practice which serves as an approach to instruction where the teacher leads the activity but solicits help from students; (5) Self-Test which consists of items for additional drills and practice; and (6) Evaluation to assess students' learning. The format of the worktext was carefully designed to easily capture the attention of the learners.

### **Data Gathering Procedure**

The research procedure followed three phases:

#### Pre-treatment Phase

The researcher sought permission from the Academic Dean of the School of Engineering, Architecture and Interior Design (SEAID) with the approval from the University President for the conduct of the study. In the first phase of USL, the researcher made use of the course syllabus in Solid Mensuration to review the competencies of the course as basis for formulating the learning outcomes. Also, survey of books available at the university library, informal interviews with the experts, library work and use of internet were employed by the researcher for concept development and drill activities in order to come up with the initial draft of the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration. The researcher adopted the format used by Batulan (2003) but modified some parts to wit: Topic, Learning Outcomes, Key Concepts, Guided Practice, Self – Test and Evaluation. Lessons were organized based on the course syllabus to ensure that the content is sufficient and the presentation of the examples is progressive. The initial draft of the proposed worktext was presented to experts to elicit suggestions and comments regarding the course content, manner of presentation and usefulness of the material.

Refinement in the proposed worktext was made based on the evaluation, comments and suggestions of the experts.

A pre-test was administered to both experimental and control

group before the use of the proposed worktext to initially determine the extent of knowledge on the topics to be introduced to them.

#### Treatment Phase

The proposed worktext was utilized by the experimental group for the duration of 33 hours for a total of 22 meetings. The control group was taught using the textbook in Solid Mensuration for the same duration of time. Throughout this period, the lessons, references through internet sites for additional information and learning conditions were the same for both groups. However, parallel items in the quizzes and assignments were administered.

#### Post-treatment Phase

After the topics had been taught through the proposed worktext in the experimental group and textbook in the control group, the same test was re-administered to the two groups at the same time as post-test. Their scores were evaluated and compared to determine if there was any significant difference.

A worktext evaluation tool was administered to the experimental group and to the experts to evaluate the quality of the proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration in terms of course content, manner of presentation and usefulness of the material.

# **Data Analysis**

The data gathered were analyzed using the following descriptive statistics:

Weighted Mean. The weighted mean was used to determine the mean assessment of the participants on the proposed instructional material in Solid Mensuration in terms of content, manner of presentation and usefulness of the material. The following scale was used to interpret the weighted mean.

Range	<b>Qualitative Description</b>
4.20 - 5.00	Very Highly Evident/Excellent/Very Useful
3.40 - 4.19	Highly Evident/Very Good/Useful
2.60 - 3.39	Evident/Good/Moderate
1.80 - 2.59	Less Evident/Fair/Less Useful
1.00 - 1.79	Least Evident/Poor/Not Useful

Mean. The mean was used to answer the problems posed in the study such as the pre-test and post-test performances of the two groups.

Pre-posttest Results Scale. This scale which is patterned from Dacanay (2010) was used in interpreting the pre-posttest results of the students.

Range	Qualitative Description
40 – 45	Excellent
34 – 39	Very Good
28 – 33	Good
22 – 27	Fair
0 – 21	Poor

T-test. The t-test for independent samples was employed to test the significant difference between:

- 1. pretest scores of the control group and the experimental group
- 2. posttest scores of the control group and the experimental group
- the assessment of the participants (experts and experimental group) on the proposed instructional material in Solid Mensuration in terms of Course Content, Manner of Presentation and Usefulness of the Material.

The t-test for dependent samples was used to test for significant difference between:

- 1. pretest and posttest scores of the control group
- 2. pretest and posttest scores of the experimental group

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# Pretest and Posttest Mean Performances of the Control and experimental groups

Both groups had a poor performance in the pretest. The control group had a fair performance in the posttest while the experimental group had a very good performance in the posttest.

# Test for Significant Difference in the Pretest Mean Performances of the Control Group and the Experimental Group

There is no statistically significant difference in the pretest mean performances of the control group and the experimental group.

# Test for Significant Difference in the Posttest Mean Performances of the Control Group and the Experimental Group

There is a statistically significant difference in the posttest mean performances of the control and experimental group.

# Test for Significant Difference in the Pretest and Posttest Mean Performances of the Control and Experimental Groups

There is a statistically significant difference in the pretest and posttest mean performances of the control and experimental groups.

# Assessment of the Mathematics Experts Along the Quality of Elements of the Proposed Instructional Material in Solid Mensuration

#### Course Content

The assessment of the experts in terms of the course content was very highly evident.

# Manner of Presentation

The assessment of the experts in terms of the manner of presentation was excellent.

### Usefulness of the Material

The assessment of the experts in terms of the usefulness of the material was very useful.

# Assessment of the Experimental Group After the use of the Proposed Worktext Along the Quality of Elements of the Proposed Instructional Material in Solid Mensuration

#### Course Content

The assessment of the experimental group in terms of the course content was very highly evident.

## Manner of Presentation

The assessment of the experimental group in terms of the manner of presentation was excellent.

# Usefulness of the Material

The assessment of the experimental group in terms of the usefulness of the material was very useful.

Test for Significant Difference Between the Assessment of the Mathematics Experts and the Experimental Group Along the Quality of Elements of the Proposed Instructional Material in Solid Mensuration

#### Course Content

There is no statistically significant difference between the assessment of the mathematics experts and the students in terms of the elements in the course content.

# Manner of Presentation

There is no statistically significant difference between the assessment of the mathematics experts and the students in terms

of the elements in the manner of presentation.

# Usefulness of the Material

There is no statistically significant difference between the assessment of the mathematics experts and the students in terms of the elements in the usefulness of the material.

#### CONCLUSION

The proposed worktext in Solid Mensuration is effective in improving students' performance. Effective and well-developed instructional materials are tools which include active learning and enhance students' conceptual understanding. A well developed worktext should be appropriate to the level and needs of the students. The following quality of elements in terms of course content, manner of presentation and usefulness of the material were assessed by the experts and students as very highly evident, excellent and very useful, respectively. Moreover, the worktext which contains information and directions that are clearly written and explained, may help the learners enhance their own knowledge, thus, making learning more significant, enjoyable, meaningful and interesting.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

From the foregoing conclusions, the following are the recommendations:

- 1. Mathematics teachers are encouraged to develop their own instructional materials not only in Solid Mensuration but also in other Mathematics subjects to facilitate teaching and learning.
- 2. The researcher may further validate the proposed worktext by a large pool of experts and may be utilized or tried-out to a large group of students to further test its effectiveness.
- 3. The University should consider the proposed worktext as an instructional material and be used in the teaching-learning process of Solid Mensuration.
- 4. The administration should financially support teachers who have the potential in developing instructional materials.

- 5. Future researchers may conduct similar studies that focus on the learning outcomes of the students in the course.
- 6. The administration should support the utilization of the proposed worktext in the University.

### References

- Adora, N. M. (2014). Development and validation of a workbook in elementary Mathematics VI. *International Journal of Humanities and Management Sciences, 2*(3). Retrieved from http://www.isaet.org/images/extraimages/A1114063.pdf
- Aquino, R. J., Hagos, L. C., Evangelista, Y., Lim, U. V. &. Reyes, F. V. (2011). Effectiveness of the modular instructional material in the basic integration formulas in integral calculus. Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference of Teaching and Learning (ICTL 2011) INTI International University, Malaysia. Retrieved from https://nanopdf.com/download/rolando-j-aquino-luisito-c-hagos-yolanda-evangelista-ulyses-v\_pdf#
- Auditor, E., & Naval, D. J. (2014). Development and validation of tenth grade physics modules based on selected least mastered competencies. *International Journal of Education and Research* 2(12). Retrieved from http://www.ijern.com/journal/2014/December-2014/14.pdf
- Batulan, R. A. (2002). Development and validation of an interactive multimedia courseware material in probability and statistics (Doctoral dissertation). Centro Escolar University.
- Comandante, F. L. (2009). Analytic and solid geometry made easy. Mandaluyong City: National Bookstore.
- Dacanay, G. (2010). The Effectiveness of a Proposed Instructional Material in Precalculus for the Students of the University of Nizwa (Doctoral dissertation). St. Paul University Philippines.

- Demirel, Y. (2004). Effective teaching and active learning of engineering courses with workbook strategy. Proceedings of the 2004 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference & Exposition. Retrieved from https://peer.asee.org/effective-teaching-and-active-learning-of-engineering-courses-with-workbook-strategy.pdf
- Earnhart, R. T. (2011). Solid mensuration: Understanding the 3-D space. Quezon City: C&E Publishing.
- Earnhart, R. T., & Bejasa, W. P. (2007). Plane and solid mensuration: A simplified approach. C & E Publishing, Inc.
- Edenfield, K. W. (2010). Mathematics teachers' use of instructional materials while implementing a new curriculum (Doctoral dissertation). Athens, Georgia: The University of Georgia. Retrieved from https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/edenfield\_kelly\_w\_201005\_phd.pdf
- Espinar, M. J. T., & Ballado, R. S. (2016). Content validity and acceptability of a developed worktext in basic Mathematics 2. International Conference on Research in Social Sciences, Humanities and Education. Retrieved from http://uruae.org/siteadmin/upload/UH0516142.pdf
- Guido, R. M. D. (2014). Evaluation of a modular teaching approach in materials science and engineering. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 2(11), 1126-1130. DOI: 10.12691/education-2-11-20
- Isidro, J. D. (2009). Daily relooping and explicit timing strategy in teaching Geometry to 3rd year high school students. *E-International scientific research journal, 6*(1). Retrieved from http://www.eisrjc.com/documents/DAILY\_RELOOPING\_AND\_EXPLICIT\_TIMING\_STRATEGY\_ 1395902982.docx

- Khalid, A., & Azeem, M. (2012). Constructivist vs traditional: Effective instructional approach in teacher education. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 2*(5). Retrieved from http://www.ijhssnet.com/view.php?u=http://www.ijhssnet.com/journals/Vol\_2\_No\_5\_March\_2012/21.pdf
- Knapp, J. S. (2006). The homeschool diner's guide to workbooks and worktexts. Retrieved from http://www.homeschooldiner.com/guide/workbooks worktexts.html
- Laguador, J. (2013). Freshman computer engineering students' attitude capability in solving solid mensuration major exam problems. International Journal of Social Science & Interdisciplinary Research, 2(9).
- Laroza, R. (2015). Validation and effectiveness of modules in personality development and public relations. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, *5*(9). Retrieved from http://www.ijsrp.org/research-paper-0915/ijsrp-p4509.pdf
- Lavador, F. B., & Calderon, R. V. (2012). Proposed teacher's guide in solid mensuration with outcomes—based teaching and learning (OBTL) approach using Bruner's framework. The 12th International Congress on Mathematical Education.
- Macarandang, M. A. (2009). Evaluation of a proposed set of modules in principles and method of teaching. *E-International Scientific Research Journal*, 1(1). Retrieved from http://www.eisrjc.com/documents/Evaluation\_Of\_A\_Proposed\_Set\_Of\_Modules\_1325932219.pdf
- Magboo, J. L., & Salayo, E. C. (2009). Work text using Morrison method (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Lucban, Quezon: Southern Luzon State University.
- Mateo, R. R., Bataclan, N. A., & Bunag, E. S. (2013). Plane and Solid Mensuration Worktext. C & E Publishing, Inc.

- Orhun, N. (2000). The effects of general mathematics in high school on college calculus at Anadolu university In Turkey. Retrieved from http://math.unipa.it/~grim/Jorhun.PDF
- Pacquing, E. (2015). Effective teaching strat seminar conducted. Retrieved from http://www.spup.edu.ph/news?newsid=23
- Pappas, C. (2015). 9 steps to apply the Dick and Carey model in eLearning. Retrieved from https://elearningindustry.com/9-steps-to-apply-the-dick-and-carey-model-in-elearning
- Romero, R. (2008). The development and validation of a proposed worktext in Biostatistics (Doctoral dissertation). St. Paul University Philippines.
- Sadiq, S., & Zamir, S. (2014). Effectiveness of modular approach in teaching at university level. *Journal of Education and Practice,* 5(17). Retrieved from https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/ JEP/article/viewFile/13916/14068
- Salavaria, F. A. C. (2014). Development and validation of worktext in Statistics (Masters' thesis). City of Balanga, Bataan: Bataan Peninsula State University. Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/18673207/FINAL MANUSCRIPT
- Torio, M. Z. C. (2015). Development of instructional material using Algebra as a tool in problem solving. *International Journal of Education and Research*, *3*(1). Retrieved from http://www.ijern.com/journal/2015/January-2015/48.pdf
- Wallace, E. D., & Jefferson, R. N. (2015). Developing critical thinking skills: Assessing the effectiveness of workbook exercises. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning,* 12(2), 101-108. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1061312.pdf

# ENHANCING QUALITY ASSURANCE MECHANISM THROUGH DATA ANALYSIS APPROACH

Byron Joseph A. Hallar

Doctor in Information Technology

#### **ABSTRACT**

Quality assurance is a holistic approach utilized in higher education institutions which covers all the elements of educational processes. It is aimed at providing better services to students and other stakeholders ensuring that these services meet certain quality standards. This study sought to develop an enhanced quality assurance mechanism intended to expedite the process of a state university's leveling by developing an information system that incorporated the useful functions of data consolidation and clustering and supported by data analytics technologies. The study utilized the descriptive mixed methods research design and included fifteen (15) participants who are involved in the operation of the leveling instrument tool for the State Universities and Colleges (SUCs). Relevant data were gathered using questionnaires and through observations and interviews. The developed SUCs Leveling tool has a high level of validity as assessed by the information technology experts. The overall results of the participants' evaluation, the enhanced SUC Leveling Tool for SUCs were found to be compliant to a very great extent with the quality standard characteristics defined by ISO/IEC 9126-1 in terms of functionality, reliability, usability, efficiency, maintainability and portability. The developed system has the ability to extract knowledge hidden in complex and varied sources of data and visualize them in human-readable form. The data mining and analytics tool is freely available for academic use and uses the data sets generated by the developed system as its input.

**Keywords**: Quality assurance mechanism, data analysis approach, higher education institutions, ISO/IEC 9126

#### INTRODUCTION

State Universities and Colleges in the Philippines are ranked by the use of a "leveling" instrument jointly prescribed by the Philippine Government's Commission on Higher Education and the Department of Budget and Management. This is part of the country's Quality Assurance process mandated for these educational institutions. Performed annually, the "leveling" process determines the rank of the university or college by means of a five-point typology, with Level I as the lowest and Level V as the highest. The intent of the process is to reward institutional performance and to provide incentives for improvement. The rank or "level" of the institution determines the level of state support and the level of bonuses awarded to individual employees. It is also a matter of prestige among the schools to attain the highest possible rank.

The process of determining the ranking level of an educational institution requires the analysis of voluminous amounts of data. Each educational institution is required to assemble and collate the data and submit it to the national government for final processing. In actual practice, gathering the required data is labor-intensive and time consuming. There is no existing information system in use for rapid data entry, collation and analysis. This study titled "Enhancing Quality Assurance Mechanism through Data Analysis Approach" was intended to expedite the process of SUC Leveling. Supported by data analytics technologies, the developed information system incorporated useful functions such as data consolidation and clustering. Piloted at the Mariano Marcos State University in Northern Philippines, the researcher intended to eventually deploy the developed information system at a regional and nationwide basis.

#### Statement of the Problem

This study aimed to develop an enhanced quality assurance mechanism that utilizes the data analytics approach.

Specifically, it attempted to answer the following questions:

- 1. What is the profile of the participants in terms of:
  - 1.1 Unit of Work:
  - 1.2 Position;
  - 1.3 Academic Rank;
  - 1.4 Highest Educational Attainment; and
  - 1.5 Field of Specialization?
- 2. What is the performance level of the existing system as assessed by the participants in terms of:
  - 2.1 Functionality;
  - 2.2 Reliability;
  - 2.3 Usability;
  - 2.4 Efficiency;
  - 2.5 Maintainability; and
  - 2.6 Portability?
- 3. Is there a significant difference in the assessment of the participants when grouped according to the profile variables with respect to:
  - 3.1 Functionality;
  - 3.2 Reliability;
  - 3.3 Usability;
  - 3.4 Efficiency;
  - 3.5 Maintainability; and
  - 3.6 Portability?
- 4. To what extent does the developed enhanced leveling tool for SUCs comply with the quality standard characteristics of software as defined by ISO/IEC 9126-1 in terms of:
  - 4.1 Functionality;
  - 4.2 Reliability;
  - 4.3 Usability;
  - 4.4 Efficiency;
  - 4.5 Maintainability; and
  - 4.6 Portability?
- 5. What is the degree of validity of the developed enhanced leveling tool system as evaluated by the information technology experts?
- 6. Is there a significant difference between the features of the existing system and the developed system as assessed by the participants?
- 7. What is the source data generated by the developed enhanced leveling tool system that is needed for data modeling and analysis?

#### **METHODOLOGY**

### Research Design

The Descriptive Qualitative-Method was used for this study. The method was used as it describes the nature of the situation as it exists at the time of the study. It involved gathering data that describe events and then organizes, tabulates, depicts, and describes the data. It also used description as a tool to organize data into patterns that emerge during analysis (Myers, 2012).

Moreover, it is concerned with conditions of relations of relationships that exist; practices that prevail; beliefs, processes that are going on; effects that are being felt, or trends that are developing. The process of descriptive research goes beyond mere gathering and tabulation of data. It involves an element or interpretation of meaning or significance of what is described. Thus, description is often combined with comparison and contrast involving measurements, classifications, interpretation and evaluation. This method was used since it can greatly assess, determine and pin-point the impact of the proposed system to its future users. Moreover, this method allows a flexible approach, thus, when important new issues and questions arise within the duration of the study, further investigation may be conducted.

Descriptive research, on the other hand, is a type of research that is mainly concerned with describing the nature or condition and the degree in detail of the present situation. This method is used to describe the nature of a situation, as it exists at the time of the study and to explore the causes of a particular phenomenon. The aim of descriptive research is to obtain an accurate profile of the people, events or situations. With this research type, it is essential that the researcher already has a clear view or picture of the phenomenon being investigated before the data collection procedure is carried out. The researcher used this method to obtain first hand data from the participants so as to formulate rational and sound conclusions and recommendations for the study. The descriptive approach is quick and practical in terms of the financial aspect.

In this study, the descriptive research method was implemented

specifically the summative evaluation type to address issues concerning the usage, implementation, and to track problems that may arise during the deployment of the technology. The Research and Development (R&D) Method by Penuel, et al. (2011) and Burkhardt, et al. (2003) was also employed as a guide for the activities conducted in the research particularly with the development of the software. With the end product being a software system for actual production use, the sequential nature of R&D is particularly suitable for the application of basic research, applied research and project development.

### **Software Development Methodology**

The researcher selected the relatively new, widely accepted Scrum methodology / management framework for the software development portion of this study. The name "Scrum" is said to have originated from the "Scrum Formation" of the Rugby sport. Scrum is an Agile type of methodology that aims to develop a software product incrementally or iteratively by building a series of prototypes and constantly adjusting them to user requirements (Sommerville & Sawyer, 1997).

# **Participants of the Study**

For the needs assessment, the researcher included participants involved in the operation of the leveling instrument tool for the SUCs to get the necessary information needed for the study.

The personnel included in the process of getting the baseline information as shown in Table 1 are the participants of the study.

Table 1
Study Participants

Participants	Frequency
CHED IT Coordinator	1
IT Experts	4
Administrative Staff	2
Support Staff	8
Total	15

#### Instrumentation

The instruments were based on PIECES Framework by Wetherbe (1984). Relevant data were gathered using questionnaires and through observation checklist and interview guide. These instruments were utilized to collect sufficient information needed for the study.

Observation. This is an approach of analyzing computer system requirements. This extensively helped the researcher in terms of step-by-step proceeding in developing the system. The researcher used this technique to supplement the facts that were adopted in this study. The researcher personally observed and experienced how the job would be handled, performed and accomplished in the workplace by the participants.

Interview. The researcher used this technique in gathering significant facts and information that were utilized in the study. Casual interviews were conducted with the ones who have direct involvement in the proposed system in order to understand the current system and determine their opinions towards the proposed system.

Questionnaire. This instrument was used to gather additional data and information needed for the study. The survey questionnaire was constructed based on ISO 9126-1, a model to standardize the quality factors of software. This tool was the primary source of data and information. The researcher prepared a questionnaire that was validated by a panel of experts and the adviser and distributed to the participants.

Document Analysis/ Records Review. Office documents were sources of the records containing performance rating data for offices involved in the SUC leveling process.

# **Data Gathering Procedure**

The researcher sought permission from the presidents of involved SUCs, and the CHED Regional Director to gather data from their concerned agencies or offices. The concerned offices include the university registrar, university accountant, directors of the different

offices involved in the leveling tool (SSD, Alumni Affairs, HRMO, QAO, Research and Extension and the CMR). Face to face interviews with the focal persons were conducted and a survey was conducted via questionnaire to determine the needs and to evaluate the solution. Relevant documents and records from the offices were analyzed to gain additional insights needed in formulating a solution.

#### **Data Analysis**

After gathering data, the statistical tools used in the analysis of data were the Weighted Mean, Standard Deviation and, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). The weighted mean was used to determine the average responses on each item of the five (5) options in the questionnaire namely, 5 (Very Great Extent /Accepted Unconditionally), 4 (Great Extent /Accepted with minor condition), 3 (Moderate Extent), 2 (Low Extent/Accepted with major condition) and 1 (Very Low Extent/Reject).

The points that were used are:

5 points = Very Great Extent/Accepted Unconditionally

4 points = Great Extent/Accepted with minor condition

3 points = Moderate Extent

2 points = Low Extent/Accepted with major condition

1 point = Very Low Extent/Reject

Table 2
Range of Weighted Mean and Its Interpretation

Mean Range	Qualitative Interpretation
4.20 – 5.00	Very Great Extent (as a computer user) The Proposed System is Accepted unconditionally
3.40 – 4.19	Great Extent (as a computer user) The Proposed System is Accepted with minor condition
2.60 - 3.39	Moderate Extent
1.80 – 2.59	Low Extent (as a computer user) The Proposed System is Accepted with major condition
1.00 – 1.79	Very Low Extent (as a computer user) The Proposed System is Rejected

Table 2 shows the mean range and the qualitative interpretation. This was used as a guide to determine the acceptability of the newly developed system from the different users involved in the SUC leveling tool. Standard deviation was used to determine the degree of dispersion or disagreement among the participants. A low standard deviation indicates that the data points tend to be close to the mean (also called the expected value) of the set, while a high standard deviation indicates that the data points are spread out over a wider range of values.

T-test or Analysis of Variance. It was used to determine if there is a significant difference in the assessment of the participants when grouped according to the profile variables with respect to the system's functionality, reliability, usability, efficiency, maintainability and portability.

Also to determine if there is a significant difference between the features of the existing system and the proposed system as assessed by the participants, the level of significance was set at 0.05.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### **Profile of the Participants**

A substantial number of the participants or forty percent (40%) hold the rank of director who works in administrative offices. Twenty percent (20%) of the participants hold ranks of Professor I and Associate Professor V, respectively, while those who are Assistant Professor II, Associate Professors III and IV account for 13.33% each, respectively. The smallest number of participants hold ranks of Supervising Administrative Officer, Administrative Officer V, Associate Professor I, and Professor III account for 6.70% each, respectively. A sizable number of the participants at 46.70% are information technology specialists who hold master's degrees or have earned doctorate units in relation to the discipline. This is followed by specialists in the field of public administration account for 13.33% of the participants. All other specializations account for 6.70% each of the participants.

The findings for the profile of participants can be correlated to

the relevant sections of the MMSU Operations Manual (2nd Edition 2016). Section 2.0 "Organization and Governance" and Sub-section 2.5 "Officials and Administration" of the said manual enumerate and define the position titles as well as the associated duties and responsibilities that are consistent with the findings for the profile of the participants.

## Performance Level of the Existing System as Assessed by the Participants

All of the participants (100%) agreed that the performance level of the existing system is compliant only to a moderate extent with the particular attributes of functionality, reliability, usability, efficiency, maintainability and portability.

## Test for Significant Difference in the Assessment of the Participants When Grouped According to the Profile Variables

There is no significant difference in the features of the existing system as assessed by the participants.

#### The Extent of Compliance by the Enhanced SUC Leveling Tool with the Quality Standard Characteristics of Software as Defined by ISO/ IEC 9126-1

Based on the overall results of the participants' evaluation, the enhanced SUCs Leveling Tool was found to be compliant to a very great extent with the quality standard characteristics defined by ISO/IEC 9126-1 in terms of functionality, reliability, usability, efficiency, maintainability and portability.

## Degree of Validity of the Developed Enhanced Leveling Tool System as Evaluated by the Information Technology Experts

The developed SUC leveling system was found to have a high degree of validity based on the results of the validation by information technology experts.

## Test for Significant Difference Between the Features of the Existing and the Developed System as Assessed by the Participants

Based on the obtained t-test value, the probability is less than 0.001 which is lower than the level of significance at 0.05. Thus, there is a significant difference between the features of the existing and developed system as assessed by the participants.

#### **Data Analytics Method**

The Data Analytics approach utilized the methods of Clustering, Decision Trees, and Cross Validation to discover knowledge from the data collated by the developed system.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the findings, the following conclusions are drawn:

Most of the participants possess advanced educational qualifications and hold mid-level to high ranking positions in the University. Thus, the work assignments involved in the SUC Leveling process require highly qualified personnel. This is supported by the mandates set by the MMSU Operations Manual.

The participants considered the performance level of the existing system to be only moderately functional, reliable, usable, maintainable and portable. As a manual, paper-based scheme, the existing system has inherent inefficiencies and flaws that do not exist in modern information systems.

The participants' assessment on the different features of the existing system is the same. The individual capabilities of the users of the existing system are similar to each other. They share common experiences in using the existing system, thus, their similar assessments.

The high extent of compliance of the developed SUC Leveling Tool with the quality standard characteristics of software as defined by ISO/IEC 9126-1 shows that it is ready for production use. This high level of compliance with this internationally accepted standard means that

the developed tool satisfactorily met the needs of its users and of the host University.

The developed SUC Leveling tool has a high level of validity as revealed in the evaluation done by the information technology experts. This shows that it is technically sound from an information technology perspective and is corroborated by the evaluation of the tool by the participants.

There is a significant difference in the features of the existing and developed system, in favor of the latter. As assessed by the participants, the developed system has a substantial improvement compared to the existing one. This implies that the developed system solves the problems of the existing approach and introduces a better tool for performing SUC Leveling work.

The visualized knowledge generated by the Rapid Miner application was validated by the Planning and Quality Assurance Office. Derived from the data organized by the developed system, this knowledge was deemed to be highly useful for SUC leveling work and for supplying the information required by accreditors.

Generally, the participants are aware of some problems existing in the academic community, specifically, on SUC Leveling Tool. On the other hand, the participants expressed their willingness to adopt the new system to improve their workflow and solve the existing problems in the course of SUC leveling tool system.

Since the participants rated the system "strongly agree" in terms of all the six (6) attributes in the ISO 9126-1 characteristics of a good software product, they would be willing to adopt it.

On the data analytics approach, the participants specifically the Director of Planning and Quality Assurance Office (PQAO), appreciated the tool due to its ability to extract various knowledge hidden in the complex and varied sources of data and visualize them in human-readable form. The data mining and analytics tool is freely available for academic use and uses the data sets generated by the developed system as its input.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

From the foregoing conclusions, the following are the researcher's recommendations:

- The developed enhanced leveling tool for SUCs be deployed to eventually supplant the existing system in order to meet the University objectives as set in the MMSU Information Systems Strategic Plan.
- 2. The study could be presented to the Commission on Higher Education and the system may be eventually hosted by its web information systems for use of other SUCs in the whole country.
- 3. High-level personnel who are to use the software may be provided with trainings and knowledge enhancement in data mining and analytics.
- 4. More research could be conducted to adopt the system for nationwide usage as well as to enhance its capabilities.

#### References

- Accrediting Agency of Chartered Colleges and Universities of the Philippines, Inc. (2003, January). Journal of Philippine Higher Education Quality Assurance, 1(1).
- Bagnall, A., Ratanamahatana, C., Keogh, E., Lonardi, S., & Janacek, G. (2006). A bit level representation for time series data mining with shape based similarity. *Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery,* 13, 11–40. DOI: 10.1007/s10618-005-0028-0
- Bagnall, A., & Janacek, G. (2005). Clustering time series with clipped data. *Machine Learning*, *58*(2-3), 151-178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10994-005-5825-6
- Burkhardt, H., & Schoenfeld, A. H. (2003). Improving educational research: Toward a more useful, more influential, and betterfunded enterprise. *Educational Researcher*, *32*(9), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X032009003

- Castano, M. C. N. & Cabanda, E. (2011). Sources of efficiency and productivity growth in the Philippine state universities and colleges: A non-parametric approach. *International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 6. DOI: 10.19030/iber.v6i6.3379.
- Chang, W. H. T. & Lee, Y. H. (2000). Telecommunications data mining for target marketing. *Journal of Computers*, 12(4), 60-74.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Cuenca, J. S. (2011, July). Efficiency of state universities and colleges in the Philippines: A data envelopment analysis. *Philippine Institute for Development Studies*. Retrieved from http://dirp3.pids.gov.ph/ris/dps/pidsdps1114.pdf
- Han, J., Kamber, M., & Pei, J. (2006). *Data mining: Concepts and techniques (3rd ed.)*. Morgan Kaufmann. Retrieved from http://myweb.sabanciuniv.edu/rdehkharghani/files/2016/02/The-Morgan-Kaufmann-Series-in-Data-Management-Systems-Jiawei-Han-Micheline-Kamber-Jian-Pei-Data-Mining.-Concepts-and-Techniques-3rd-Edition-Morgan-Kaufmann-2011.pdf
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., & Friedman, J. (2008). *The elements of statistical learning: Data mining, inference, and prediction*. New York: Springer. Retrieved from https://web.stanford.edu/~hastie/Papers/ESLII.pdf
- Herschel, G. (2008). *Magic quadrant for customer data-mining applications*. Retrieved from http://www.spss.com.hk/pdfs/gartner magic quadrant.pdf
- Hofmann, M., & Klinkenberg, R. (n.d.). Rapid miner: Data mining use cases and business analytics applications. *Chapman & Hall/CRC Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery Series*. CRC Press.

- International Organization for Standardization. (2011). Systems and software engineering Systems and software quality requirements and evaluation (SQuaRE) System and software quality models (ISO/IEC 25010:2011).
- Kadous, M.W., & Sammut, C. (2005). Classification of multivariate time series and structured data using constructive induction. *Machine Learning*, *58*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10994-005-5826-5
- Klösgen, W., & Zytkow, J. M. (2002). *Handbook of data mining and knowledge discovery*. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Laviña, C. G., Manabo, R. D., Hernandez, G. D., Habanida, F. L., Lacorte, A. M., & Ebron, J. G.(2016). Outcomes-based practical guide to thesis and capstone project writing in computing. Mindshapers Co., Inc.
- Locke, L. F., Spirduso, W. W., & Silverman, S. J. (2013). *Proposals that work: A guide for planning dissertations and grant proposals (6th ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Norman, D. A. (2002). *Emotion & Design: Attractive things work better. Interactions Magazine, 9*(4), 36–42.
- O'brien, J. A. & Marakas, G. M. (2010). *Management information systems (10th ed.)*. New York: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Patil, P. S., Rao, S., & Patil, S. B. (2011). Optimization of data warehousing system: Simplification in reporting and analysis. *International Journal of Computer Applications*, 33-37. Foundation of Computer Science.
- Paz, A. M., Gerardo, B. D., & Tanguilig, B. T. III. (2014). Development of college completion model based on K-means clustering algorithm. *International Journal of Computer and Communication Engineering*, *3*(3). Retrieved from http://www.ijcce.org/papers/314-CS025.pdf

- Singh, S., Firdaus, T. &. Sharma, A. K. (2015). Survey on big data using data mining. *International Journal of Engineering Development and Research*, *3*(4). Retrieved from https://www.ijedr.org/papers/IJEDR1504022.pdf
- Witten, I., Frank, E., & Hall, M. (2000). Data mining: Practical machine learning tools and techniques (2nd ed.).

## CLASSROOM TALK IN EFL CLASSES IN THE KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA

## Georgeson G. Pangilinan Doctor of Philosophy in Rhetoric and Linquistics

#### **ABSTRACT**

This study sought to examine the patterns of talk and other patterns that emerged in the classroom talk and aimed to investigate the level of questions, the syntactic structure of questions, and the initiated repairs used by teachers in classroom interaction. There were 10 English teachers from 5 colleges who were randomly selected as participants. The instrument used in the study was the recorded teaching observation of the teachers. The verbatim transcriptions of the video materials were used as the main instrument in examining the teachers' patterns of talk; their syntactic and cognitive level of questions; and the other-initiation repairs used by them to resolve the issues and to sustain the smooth flow of conversation. The study made use of the qualitative and quantitative approaches and revealed that teacher Initiation-Response-Feedback pattern was mostly used by teachers which signify the restricted adherence of teachers in a one cycle turn of asking questions by the teacher, providing response by student and giving feedback by the teacher. Whereas on the emerging patterns of talk, Initiation-Response pattern emerged which was predominantly used by teachers. This shows that there are deviations on the IRF pattern of eliciting verbal responses from the learners. Teachers used low level type of questions both in the cognitive level and syntactic structure of questions posted by teachers. This means that questions used were not intended to develop students' creativity. Most teachers preferred to use the hearing repair which is the least sensitive approach in resolving issues. This provided the teachers more opportunities to address the problems in the course of the conversation. The teachers have to accept the responsibility of providing solutions to the identified problems instead of delegating the responsibility to the students to solve the problem.

Keywords: Classroom talk, EFL classes, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

#### INTRODUCTION

Talk serves as a channel to encompass widely the interrelated realms of interaction in the classroom. The initiation of talk between interactants starts if there are questions raised either by the teacher or the student. The pattern of talk varies depending on how the interactants start, sustain, or end a cycle of conversation.

In the EFL classroom discussion, the life of interaction depends on the quality of questions posted by the teacher and how the interactants address the intervening problems in the course of the conversation. These factors serve as initiators to facilitate the effectiveness of talk between the instructor and the students. This means that the quality of communication really matters to facilitate the smooth flow of transaction and negotiation of meaning in order to produce an effective result of interaction. According to Tofade, et al. (2013), embracing the ideal practices in teaching and using questions in teaching are among the most powerful tools and are sufficiently important in the development of excellent standards of instruction.

Thorns (2008); Hellermann (2005); Cazden (2001); Marshall, Smagorinsky, & Smith, (1995), emphasized that in the construction of social meaning in a classroom the context of teacher and students' talk is affected by a variety of factors. These might be the ones which would hold, produce and sustain the discourse. In this sense, it is important to see the different factors that may affect the flow of interaction between the teacher and students in order to uncover these aspects. It is significant to investigate the different patterns of talk and other emerging patterns, the cognitive and syntactic structures of questioning, and the initiated repairs used by teachers. These variables can be used as instruments to improve classroom teaching and learning.

To reveal the different patterns of talk in the classroom, the Sinclair and Coulthard's IRF model was used. The Bloom's Taxonomy of learning is also utilized to identify the teacher's syntactic structure of questioning and the cognitive level of questioning. Further, the other-initiation repair is employed to identify the teachers' preference of addressing and repairing identified problems in classroom interactions.

In a socio-cultural perspective, the introduction of English in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia was introduced as early as nineteen twenties. According to Alshahrani (2016) and Al-Shabbi (1989), the English language was formally introduced to Saudi Arabian education by the United Kingdom and the United States of America with the purpose of speeding up its integration with other countries. This started when the General Directorate of Education was established in 1924. Additionally, Alshahrani (2016) cited the work of Baghdadi (1985), that English as a school subject was first introduced in Saudi elementary schools in 1924. However, it was believed by Al-Seghyer (2014) that English started to be taught in KSA only after five years, when the Directorate of Education was established in 1923. It was further cited by claim of Al-Johani (2009), that English was introduced in 1930s in the KSA after the discovery of oil. This was only then used in business transactions until such time that it was introduced into the syllabus for schools in 1950s. As explained by Mahboob and Elyas (2014); Al-Ghamdi and Al-Saadat (2002), the teaching of English was first introduced in school in KSA when the Scholarship Preparation School (SPS) was established in 1936 in Makkah. The purpose was to respond to the needs of the Saudis who travel and study in the Western countries where English is used as the medium of communication. This marks the "beginning of modern day high school education in the KSA". However, the school was only limited to Saudis who were going abroad.

Alshahrani (2016) and Mahboob and Elyas (2014) cited that Al-Braik (2007) made clear that as early as 1978, the economic development of KSA was mostly contributed by foreign companies and most of the workers in almost all establishments like restaurants, hospitals, and shopping malls were expatriates. This resulted to the perceived value of English in the Saudi Arabian educational system which was one of its main objectives in the teaching of EFL in the country. It was necessary then to teach students to communicate satisfactorily in English in order to communicate with the expatriates in the kingdom. Also, it became more significant with the establishment of the Arabian American Oil Company in 1933. The company dominated the Saudi economy and influenced the framing of EFL instruction in the country. Its great influence was due to the fact that Saudis must learn the English language as a priority to communicate with foreign workers and managers. In addition, Rahman and Alhaisoni (2013) believed that

English is one of the major subjects in the system of education in Saudi Arabia. This was due to its significance as a language which is used in business and commerce, science and technology and others. These were only some of the substantial reasons why the study of English grew rapidly in the kingdom.

The researcher had observed teachers during classroom visits in five colleges of Al Ghad International Colleges for Applied Medical Sciences. The classroom scenarios were mostly teacher-centered rather than learner-centered. The students had limited time to be communicative and develop other skills that they are expected to gain. In a microscopic view, it was noticed that the utterances used by teachers played an important role in encouraging students to speak their ideas. It is believed that the use of effective and quality questions encourage the learners to express and elaborate their ideas which could result in a productive classroom talk. To shed light on the aforementioned observation and to provide research based solutions, the researcher became interested to determine the reasons behind the limited opportunities for student talk and the barriers that hinder the students to become more communicative during class discussions.

The purpose of this study is to generally examine the pattern of talk and other patterns that emerge in the classroom talk; examine the syntactic and cognitive types of questioning; and investigate the initiated repairs used by teachers in classroom interaction.

#### Statement of the Problem

This study generally aimed to describe and analyze the classroom talk of teacher - student in an EFL classroom interaction in five branches of Al-Ghad International Colleges for Applied Medical Sciences.

Specifically, it answers the following questions:

- 1. How frequent do the teachers use the patterns of talk as defined by Sinclaire?
- 2. What emerging patterns of talk are observed in the classroom?
- 3. What levels of questions are asked during classroom interactions?
- 4. What are the types of syntactic structures in the questions asked

during the classroom interaction?

- 5. What repair actions do teachers use in classroom interactions?
- 6. What teacher-enhancement training program could be proposed to improve classroom interactions?

#### **METHODOLOGY**

#### **Research Design**

The descriptive multi-method was employed using the qualitative and quantitative approaches. The use of qualitative data gathering method allows greater spontaneity and employed a flexible, emergent but systematic process. Moreover, the textual data which was obtained were from the video materials. This means that the description and interpretation using the method produced findings that solved interaction problems and led to the establishment or development of new concepts in organizing classroom interaction after thorough analysis of the data.

In addition, to quantify and synthesize the data gathered the quantitative method was also used.

#### Participants of the Study

The participants of the study were ten (10) male English teachers in the following colleges: Riyadh College, Dammam College, Burraidah College, Jeddah College, and Abha College. The participants were randomly selected per branch regardless of the instructors' experience in teaching, educational attainment, nationality, and the students' IQ level.

Table 1.

Frequency and Percentage Distribution of Participants in terms of Nationality

Nationality	Frequency	Percentage
Egyptian	3	30.00
Filipino	1	10.00
Jordanian	5	50.00
Pakistani	1	10.00
Total	10	100.00

Table 1 shows the frequency and percentage distribution of participants in terms of nationality. Most of the participants were Jordanian with 5 (50%) participants. This is followed by the Egyptian with 3 (30%) of the total number of participants. Since Jordan and Egypt are geographically proximal with the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the recruitment process is faster and easier compared to the Philippines and Pakistan. Besides, Jordan, Egypt, and Saudi Arabia used the same Arabic language in daily conversation and in teaching some academic courses.

#### Instrumentation

The research instrument which was used in gathering the data was the recorded teaching observation of the teachers in five colleges. The video materials were transcribed by English teachers who have experienced and background in transcribing videos. The transcripts were then validated by their heads for their accuracy.

#### **Data Gathering Procedure**

The researcher undertook the following procedure in the conduct of the study:

- 1. The researcher sought permission from the Director of English Language Center for the use of the collected video materials.
- 2. After the approval was secured, the researcher sought consent from the randomly selected teachers for their videos to be used.

- 3. Then, the researcher hired three transcriptionists who have backgrounds in transcribing recorded discourse from the video file into a printed text for analysis and interpretation. The transcriptionists had the following assigned task. Two transcriptionists were tasked to transcribe the videos and the other one was assigned as the head of the team to validate the accuracy of the transcribed materials. To further validate the content of the transcribed text, the three transcriptionists exchanged video materials to validate the content of the scripts.
- 4. The patterns of utterances were identified per one complete cycle of talk. The cognitive levels of questioning and the syntactic structures of questioning were taken per question.
- 5. The researcher tabulated and made the appropriate treatment of data. The analysis and interpretation of the treated data commenced.

#### **Data Analysis**

The researcher utilized statistical methods to analyze and interpret the data obtained through the use of frequency and percentage distribution to describe the participants' discourse structure in terms of pattern of talk, emerging patterns of talk, syntactic structure of questioning, cognitive level of questioning, and initiated repair actions used by teachers.

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### On the pattern of talk

Majority of the pattern of talk used by teachers on free exchanges were 60.61% IRF (Teacher Elicit) followed by 20.03% IRF (Check).

#### On the emerging patterns of talk

There were 57 identified emerging patterns. The dominant pattern in the classroom interaction was IR (Initiation-Response) in a T-Elicit exchange which is 63.34% of the 461 total number of exchanges, followed by 7.38% IR (Initiation-Response) pattern in Repeat exchange.

#### On the cognitive levels of questions

Most cognitive questions posted were 77.05% remembering questions, followed by 12.40% understanding questions; 6.35% evaluating questions; 2.83% analyzing questions; and 1.37% applying questions.

#### On the types of syntactic structure of questions

Majority of the syntactic structure of questions used by teachers were 55.57% display questions; followed by 26.37% convergent questions; 16.80% referential questions; and 1.27% divergent questions.

#### On other-initiation repairs

The teachers preferred to use hearing repair with 51.97% compared to understanding repair with 43.31% and acceptability repair with 4.72%.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the summary of findings, the following conclusions were derived:

Majority of the teachers in the five colleges used IRF (Initiation-Response-Follow-up) pattern of exchanges in eliciting verbal response from the students during classroom interaction. While on the emerging patterns, IR (Initiation-Response) is the most used pattern of talk in eliciting students' responses.

The teachers' cognitive level and syntactic structure of questioning mostly focused on the use of low level questions which do not require critical thinking and inhibit the learners' creativity to practice and use the English language.

The teachers preferred to use hearing repair in addressing problems in classroom interaction that provided more opportunity for the teachers to address the problem in a least sensitive approach.

However, the teacher has to accept the responsibility to provide solutions to the identified problems instead of delegating them to the students.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the aforementioned summary of findings and conclusions, the following recommendations are formulated:

#### For the Teachers to:

- 1. Initiate questions that facilitate open discussion and not merely eliciting single utterance from the students.
- 2. Design a planned negotiated interaction activity that necessitates higher order thinking skills.
- 3. Employ giving follow up questions to help and guide students particularly coping learners to produce the target language.
- 4. Plan and tailor activities that require higher order thinking skills but suited to students' level of learning in order to maximize classroom interaction.
- 5. Allow the learners to discover ways on repairing the problems encountered in classroom conversation.

#### For the English Language Center to:

- Conduct seminar workshops to English teachers on teaching strategies and methodologies in the art of questioning, creating an interactive classroom, and repairing problems in classroom conversation.
- 7. Conduct similar studies with more participants in order to validate the results of the present study.

#### References

Al-Nasser, A. S. (2015). Problems of English language acquisition in Saudi Arabia: An exploratory-cum-remedial study. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 5(8), 1612-1619. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0508.10

- Ahmad Mousavi, S. (2015). Classroom interaction and teachers' uptake in response to teachers' referential and display questions in EFL setting, 4. 538-548.
- Behnam, B., & Pouriran, Y. (2009). Classroom Discourse: Analyzing Teacher/Learner Interactions in Iranian EFL Task-Based Classrooms. *Porta Linguarum*, *12*, 117-132.
- Bloom's Taxonomy. (2008). Categories in the cognitive process dimension. The Leadership and Learning Center. Retrieved from http://www.riva2.it/index.php/component/phocadownload/category/26-clil-lab?download=679:approfondimento-tassonomia-bloom
- Elyas, T. (2014). Exploring Saudi Arabia's EFL student identity: A narrative critical approach. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics & English Literature*, *3*(5). doi:10.7575/aiac.ijalel.v.3n.5p.28
- Elyas, T., & Al Grigri, W. H. (2014). Obstacles to teaching English in Saudi Arabia public schools: Teachers' and supervisors' perceptions. International Journal of English Language Teaching, 2(3), 74-89. European Centre for Research Training and Development UK. Retrieved from http://www.eajournals.org/wp-content/uploads/Obstacles-to-Teaching-English-in-Saudi-Arabia-Public-Schools-Teachers----and-Supervisors----Perceptions.pdf
- Elyas, T., & Badawood, O. (2017). English language educational policy in Saudi Arabia post 21st century: Enacted curriculum, identity, and modernisation: A critical discourse. *FIRE: Forum for International Research in Education*, *3*(3). http://dx.doi.org/10.18275/fire201603031093
- Farahiana, M., & Rezaeeb, M. (2012). A case study of an EFL teacher's type of questions: an investigation into classroom interaction. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 47, 161 167. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.631

- Hamiloğlu, K., & Temiz, G. (2012). The impact of teacher questions on student learning in EFL. *Journal of Educational and Instructional Studies in the World*, 2(2). Retrieved on http://www.wjeis.org/FileUpload/ds217232/File/01.hamiloglu.pdf
- Have, P. T. (2006). Conversation analysis versus other approaches to discourse. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 7*(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.2.100
- Kasper, G., & Wagner, W. (2014). Conversation analysis in applied linguistics. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, *34*, 171-212. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0267190514000014
- Kou, X. (2011). Collaborative rhetorical structure: A discourse analysis method for analyzing student collaborative inquiry via computer conferencing (Doctoral dissertation). US: Indiana University. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/127074/
- Lee, D. E.. (2015). Using questions to develop students' higherorder thinking skills: A primary English teacher's beliefs and practices (Undergraduate thesis). University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam, Hong Kong SAR. Retrieved from http://hub.hku.hk/ handle/10722/219949
- Macbeth, D. (2004). The relevance of repair for classroom correction. *Language in Society, 33*(5), 703-736. doi:10.1017/S0047404504045038
- Mahboob, A., & Elyas, T. (2014). English in the kingdom of Saudi Arabia. World Englishes, 33(1), 128–142. Retrieved on from https://www.academia.edu/6087817/English\_in\_the\_Kingdom\_of\_Saudi\_Arabia
- Mahib ur Rahman,M., & Alhaison, E. (2013). Teaching English in Saudi Arabia: Prospects and challenges. Academic Research International, 4(1). Retrieved from http://www.savap.org.pk/journals/ARInt./Vol.4(1)/2013(4.1-11).pdf

- Benjamin, T., & Mazeland, H. (2013). Conversation analysis and other-initiated repair. Chapelle, C. A. (ed). *The Encyclopedia of Applied Linguistics*. Wiley-Blackwell. DOI: 10.1002/9781405198431. wbeal1310
- Nordquist, R. (2016). Conversation analysis (CA): Glossary of grammatical and rhetorical terms. Retrieved from https://www.thoughtco.com/what-is-conversation-analysis-ca-1689923
- O'Sullivan, T. (2010). More than words? Conversation analysis in arts marketing research. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 4(1), 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1108/17506181011024733
- Otsu, T. (2011). Teaching repair: Raising learners' awareness of the features of second language conversations. *NEAR conference proceedings working papers*. Retrieved from http://nearconference.weebly.com/uploads/1/2/7/1/12718010/near-2011-04.pdf
- Pryde, M. (2014). Conversational patterns of homestay hosts and study abroad students. *Foreign Language Annals*, *47*(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/flan.12100
- Salariyan, M.(2015). The effects of referential questions on classroom interaction of intermediate learners in conversation classes. *The International Journal of Language Learning & Applied Linguistics World*, *9*(4).
- Seedhouse, P. (2005). Conversation analysis and language learning. *Language Teaching*, 38(04), 165-187. DOI: 10.1017/S0261444805003010
- Sidnell, J. (2010). *Conversation analysis: An Introduction*. Wiley-Blackwell.

- Stringer, D. (2014). Embedded wh-questions in L2 English in India inversion as a main clause phenomenon. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition, 37*, 101-133. doi:10.1017/S0272263114000357
- Wu. Y. (2013). Conversation analysis -- a discourse approach to teaching oral English skills. *International Education Studies, 6*(5). doi:10.5539/ies.v6n5p87
- Yu, W. (2009). An analysis of college English classroom discourse. *Asian Social Science*, *5*(7). DOI: 10.5539/ass.v5n7p152

# THE ACCOUNTING SERVICES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY REGION 2 AS TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SMALL ENTERPRISE TECHNOLOGY UPGRADING PROGRAM (SETUP)

## Nancy Conel Guimmayen Master in Business Administration

#### **ABSTRACT**

Accounting and governance are important at the organizational level and image, because accounting governance strengthens the organization. It establishes the organization's reputation in the public disclosure data reliability and creates a competitive advantage in the business. This study seeks to assess the extent of implementation, degree of relevance, degree of reliability and timeliness of the accounting services in the implementation of Small Enterprise Technology Upgrading Program (SETUP). This study used the descriptive and quantitative analyses with the use of questionnaire and interview to get information on the assessment of the participants on the accounting services of DOST Region 02. It involved a total of one hundred eighty three (183) participants. The study revealed that the Accounting Services of the Department of Science and Technology Region 02 provided in their SETUP Program generally possess the hallmarks of quality from the assessment of both its internal and external users and clients. This is particularly true with respect to the extent of its implementation, degree of relevance, reliability and timeliness. The assessment of the quality of the Accounting Services is consistently done across its various users and clients with high rating of evaluation.

**Keywords**: Accounting services, department of science and technology, small enterprise technology upgrading program (SETUP)

#### INTRODUCTION

In today's modern and highly competitive business environment, the management's concern is to provide quality and timely information on products/services to customers. And since financial aspect is critical to the operation of the entire organization, accountants should become more aware of the importance of having one information system that will embrace all components of all transactions needed to deliver prompt service. An accounting system may either be manual or electronic. In manual accounting system, each transaction is entered manually in the journals and posted manually in the general ledgers. To obtain general ledger account balances and to prepare financial statements and other financial reports, manual computation is being made. In an electronic accounting system, a computer is used to process transaction data in disseminating information to interested parties.

The Department of Science and Technology (DOST) is the executive department of the Philippine government for the coordination of science and technology-related projects and to formulate policies and projects in the field of science and technology in support to national development. A program called Small Enterprise Technology Upgrading (SETUP) was established in 2002. SETUP is a nationwide strategy to encourage and assist micro, small and medium enterprises as well as private and government institutions to implement technological innovations in order to enhance their competitiveness and support the economic development especially in the countryside.

The program enables MSMEs to address their technological requirements and improve productivity through the infusion of appropriate technologies, human resource training, technical assistance and consultancy services, design and execution of functional packages and labels, assistance for compliance with regulatory and market standards including testing and the provision of assistance for technology acquisition.

SETUP focuses assistance on the following priority sectors: food processing, furniture, gifts, decors and handicrafts, agriculture/marine/aquaculture, metals & engineering and others (including ICT,

pharmaceuticals and health products).

The DOST Regional Office in Cagayan Valley has released an amount of P182M to 248 projects from 2002-2015. On food processing, there are 90 projects, 38 on furniture, 55 on horticulture/agriculture, 4 on gifts, decors & handicrafts, 15 on aquaculture, 40 on metals and 6 under ICT. SETUP assistance can be refunded within 3-5 years without interest. However, penalty and default charges shall be imposed for unpaid due amounts.

DOST Region 02 releases the fund assistance for the technology acquisition to the beneficiaries/customers after the evaluation and approval of a project proposal. The amount of assistance is based on the projected cash flow of the business and a Memorandum of Agreement between DOST and the beneficiary, duly signed and notarized is prepared.

The accounting section of DOST Region 02 for the implementation of SETUP provides the following services: processing of vouchers for the release of SETUP fund, recording the releases and collection of refunds, maintenance of records, review and certification of financial statements and reports, internal audit services, tax services, preparation of billing statements and preparation of monitoring reports. The accounting section performs these services that results in providing accounting information for the internal and external users.

The accounting section of the DOST Region 02 functions as internal control in the releases of funds and the collection of repayments for SETUP. It maintains records on the financial aspect and is responsible for providing financial reports to the internal and external users.

The implementation of the SETUP produced a number of difficulties as years passed by. Implementers have encountered difficulty in monitoring the aging of repayments from customers, difficulty in preparing reports needed by the central office, difficulty in monitoring the releases and collection of SETUP refunds and difficulty in making an analysis of SETUP funded projects. Likewise, SETUP customers are also hard up in monitoring their repayments because of delayed delivery of billing statements which are done manually by the

accounting section. Penalties and default charges are also computed manually thus SETUP individual ledgers are not updated on time and computational errors cannot be avoided.

The success of project implementation of government agencies contributes to the national economy. There is a need to evaluate the accounting practices and the value they add to the successes of these government agencies and what development should further be made to make the role of management be of high efficiency.

#### Statement of the Problem

The study sought to assess the DOST Accounting Services in the implementation of SETUP in Region 2.

Specifically, it aimed to answer the following:

- 1. What is the profile of the participants in terms of:
  - 1.1 age;
  - 1.2 educational attainment;
  - 1.3 position/designation;
  - 1.4 length of service; and
  - 1.5 role in the SETUP?
- 2. What is the extent of quality of the accounting services of DOST Region 02 with respect to:
  - 2.1 extent of implementation;
  - 2.2 degree of relevance;
  - 2.3 reliability; and
  - 2.4 timeliness?
- 3. Is there a significant difference on the participants' assessment on the extent of quality of the accounting services of DOST Region 02 when grouped according to profile variables?
- 4. What are the problems encountered by the internal and external users in the accounting services provided for the SETUP implementation?
- 5. What are the participants' suggestions to improve the accounting services of DOST Region 02 SETUP?
- 6. What innovative tools/strategies can be proposed for the improvement of these services?

#### **METHODOLOGY**

#### **Research Design**

This study used the descriptive and quantitative analyses with the use of questionnaires to get information on the assessment of the participants on the accounting services of DOST Region 02 . A guided interview was conducted to ask pertinent questions and to verify gathered information from the survey questionnaire.

#### **Participants of the Study**

This study involved a total of one hundred eighty three (183) participants. The participants were classified as internal and external. The internal participants are composed of the Provincial Science and Technology Directors and their SETUP Staff and the SETUP Coordinating Team. The Provincial Directors were the primary participants taking into consideration their need for accurate, reliable and timely accounting information in accomplishing monthly, quarterly and annual reports of accomplishments of SETUP customers.

The members of the DOST Region 02 SETUP Coordinating Team were likewise included as participants because of their significant role as facilitators in the region-wide implementation of the program. And, the external participants were SETUP Customers to ascertain which accounting practices are beneficial to them.

Table 1
Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the Participants

Type of Participants	Frequency	Percentage
Provincial Science & Technology Directors	5	2.00
Provincial SETUP Staff	10	4.00
SETUP Coordinating Team	4	1.00
SETUP Customers	248	93 .00
Total	267	100 .00

#### Instrumentation

The survey questionnaire and the personal interview were the primary data gathering instruments used in this study. Other pieces of information were obtained through secondary sources like theses, dissertations, researches, publications and articles.

The statements in the questionnaire were taken from the functions that are assigned to the accounting section as reflected in the Individual Performance Commitment Review (IPCR).

#### **Data Gathering Procedure**

For this study, the survey questionnaire was the primary data collection tool. The questionnaire consisted of a brief introduction and explanation of how to answer the questions. This is done with the intention of orienting them with the process of answering the questions so that participants are able to understand the process before commencing and be able to ask questions. The target participants of these questionnaires were the Provincial Science and Technology Directors, Provincial SETUP Staff, SETUP Coordinating Team and SETUP Customers in Region 2 who are directly affected by the program.

#### **Data Analysis**

The statistical tools that were used to analyze the data consisted of the following:

Frequency and Percentage Distribution. These were used to describe the profile of participants in terms of their age, educational attainment, position/designation and length of service.

Weighted Mean. This was used to determine the extent of implementation and the degree of relevance, reliability and timeliness of the DOST Region 02 accounting services in the implementation of SETUP.

Independent Sample t-test or One-Way Analysis of Variance. These were used to test for significant difference in the participants'

assessment on the extent of implementation and degree of relevance, reliability and timeliness of accounting services provided when grouped according to profile variables.

To interpret the mean responses of the participants, the following qualitative descriptions were used.

Mean Range	Qualitative Description
4.20 - 5.00	Very Great Extent
3.40 - 4.19	Great Extent
2.60 - 3.39	Moderate Extent
1.80 - 2.59	Little Extent
1.00 – 1.79	Very Little Extent

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### **Profile of the Participants**

- 1. Age Range. Majority of the participants belong to age range 36 to 40 years.
- 2. Highest Educational Attainment. Majority of the participants are college graduates.
- 3. Position/Designation. Majority of the participants are owners of the SETUP projects.
- 4. Length of Service. Most of the participants had been in work service for 6 to 10 years.
- 5. Role. Most of the participants are customers of the DOST SETUP program

#### Extent of Quality of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02

- The Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 is implemented to a "Very Great Extent".
- 2. The Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 is relevant to a "Very Great Extent".
- 3. The Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 is reliable to a "Great Extent".

4. The Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 is timely to a "Very Great Extent".

## Test for Significant Difference in the Extent of Quality of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 when Grouped According to Profile Variables

- 1. There is no significant difference in the extent of implementation, degree of relevance, degree of reliability and degree of timeliness of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 when grouped according to the participants' age range.
- 2. There is no significant difference in the extent of implementation, degree of relevance, reliability and timeliness of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 when grouped according to the participants' highest educational attainment. However, there is a significant difference in the participants' assessment with respect to the extent of implementation of the DOST Accounting Services when participants are grouped according to their highest educational attainment.
- There is no significant difference in the extent of implementation, degree of relevance, degree of reliability and degree of timeliness of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 when grouped according to the participants' position or designation.
- 4. There is no significant difference in the extent of implementation, degree of relevance, degree of reliability and degree of timeliness of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 when grouped according to the participants' length of service.
- 5. There is no significant difference in the extent of implementation, degree of relevance, reliability and timeliness of the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 when grouped according to the participants' SETUP role.

## Problems Encountered by the Internal and External Users in the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 for SETUP

#### **External Users:**

- 1. Delay in the receipt of billing statements.
- 2. Inaccurate computation of penalty and default charges.

3. Inaccurate details in the billing statements.

#### Internal Users:

- 1. Inaccurate balances of paid and unpaid SETUP projects.
- 2. Non-submission of monitoring reports.
- 3. Delayed submission of financial reports.
- 4. Delayed submission of schedules.

## Suggestions to Improve the Accounting Services for SETUP Implementation

- 1. Send accurate billing statements regularly.
- 2. Submit monitoring and financial reports on time.
- 3. Check mathematical computation on the billing statement.
- 4. Prepare updated schedules on balances for easy monitoring and guidance of internal users.

## Innovative Tools/Strategies to Improve the Accounting Services of DOST Region 02 in the Implementation of SETUP

- 1. Computerization of data/financial information.
- 2. Train accounting personnel to be more efficient in the use of technology.

#### CONCLUSION

In the light of the findings obtained, the following conclusions are reached:

The Accounting Services of the Department of Science and Technology Region 02 provided in their SETUP generally possess the hallmarks of quality from the assessment of both its internal and external users and clients. This is particularly true with respect to the extent of its implementation, degree of relevance, reliability and timeliness. The assessment of the quality of the Accounting Services is consistently assessed across its various users and clients with high rating of evaluation.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the findings and conclusions reached, DOST Region 02's accounting services in the implementation of SETUP may be further enhanced by the following recommendations:

- 1. DOST may address the identified problems and come up with a solution to improve its accounting services.
- DOST may consider to innovate a tool to be used by the accounting section to improve further its services in the implementation of SETUP.
- 3. DOST may consider sending accounting personnel for systems training.
- 4. DOST may introduce training programs to improve users' understanding of available accounting services.
- The researcher recommends that a similar study be conducted to include other regions in order to affirm or validate the findings of this study.

#### References

- Bergsman, S. (1992). Accounting for small businesses. *Black Enterprise*, 23(4).
- Borlund, P. (2003). The concept of relevance in IR. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, 54*(10). https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.10286
- Carnegie, G. D., & Napier, C. J. (2012). Accounting's past, present and future: The unifying power of history. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 25*(2), 328-369. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513571211198782

- Commission on Audit. (2015, March 9). Supplementary guidelines on the preparation of financial statements and other financial reports, the transitional provisions on the implementation of the Philippine Public Sector Accounting Standards, and the coding structure (COA Circular No. 2015-002). Retrieved from https://www.coa.gov.ph/index.php/2013-06-19-13-06-41/1-circulars/category/5243-cy-2015#
- Department of Science and Technology. (2004). Guidelines for the grants-in-aid funds of department of science and technology and its agencies (Administrative Order No. 006, Series of 2004).
- Department of Science and Technology. (n.d.). SETUP (Small Enterprise Technology Upgrading Program). Retrieved from http://ncr.dost. gov.ph/index.php/what-we-do/technology-transfer/community-empowerment-thru-science-and-technology
- Eierle, B. (2013). The role of management as a user of accounting information: Implications for standard setting. *Accounting and Management Information Systems, 12*(2), 55-189. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/docview/1491345010?accountid=45049
- Mektub, R., & Ussahawanitchakit, P. (2015). Accounting governance and organizational image: An empirical study of ISO 14000 manufacturing businesses in Thailand. 6th International Trade and Academic Research Conference (ITARC). *The Business and Management Review, 7*(1). Retrieved from http://www.abrmr.com/myfile/conference\_proceedings/Con\_Pro\_19580/conference\_17976.pdf
- Mohamed, Z., & Binti Mohd. Hanafi@Omar, H. (2013). The perception of small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) on the Importance of a proper accounting system: Malaysian evidence. Journal of Modern Accounting and Auditing, 9(10). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259338943\_The\_Perception\_of\_SMEs\_on\_the\_Importance\_of\_A\_Proper\_Accounting\_Systems\_Malaysian\_Evidence

- Proctor, E., Silmere, H., Raghavan, R., Hovmand, P., Aarons, G., Bunger, A., Griffey, R., & Hensley, M. (2011). Outcomes for implementation research: Conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 38(2), 65-76. doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7
- Scott, W. R. (2002). Commentary: An international comparison and evaluation of financial accounting concepts statements. *Accounting Perspectives Perspectives Comptables, 1*(2), 163-184. Canadian Academic Accounting Association.
- Stovall, O. S. (2001). Accounting for human resources: Implications for theory and practice (Doctoral dissertation). University of North Texas. Retrieved from https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc3026/m2/1/high\_res\_d/dissertation.pdf
- Tabaog, T. A. (2011). Outcomes and impacts of the small enterprise technology upgrading program (SET-UP) of DOST Region 02. Santiago City, Isabela: University of La Salette.
- Walker, K., & Johnson, E. (2006). Delivering quality accounting services. *Management Accounting Quarterly, 7*(4).
- Watkins, A. L. (2007). An accountability view of accounting: Guidance for accounting practice. *The CPA Journal*.

## METACOGNITIVE AWARENESS AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE IN ENGLISH OF GRADE 7 STUDENTS

#### Sher-Anne C. Guzman

Master of Arts in Education, Major in English

#### **ABSTRACT**

In learning, metacognition is considered important as it is a strong predictor of a learner's academic success. Generally, students with good metacognitive skills demonstrate good academic performance compared with students with poor metacognition. Students with poor metacognition may benefit from metacognitive trainings to improve their metacognition and academic performance. Individual differences exist in metacognition and people with poor metacognition are deemed "incompetent" as they perform less relative to their peers (Kruger and Dunning, 1999). Metacognition enables students to be strategic in their learning by learning new information rather than focusing on studying information already learned. This study sought to determine the metacognitive awareness and academic performance in English of Grade 7 students of Cagayan National High School. It made use of descriptive-correlational research design utilizing the Metacognitive Awareness in Reading Questionnaire as research instrument. The participants of the study are the Grade 7 students of Cagayan National High School for the School Year 2014-2015. The study found that participants who have good academic performance generally use the bottom-up strategy. They understand the text that they are reading by dealing with the letters and words used in their reading materials. These students are able to acquire reading comprehension through getting the meaning of words. Furthermore, the participants who possess low academic performance prefer to use the top-down strategy.

**Keywords**: Metacognitive awareness, academic performance in English, grade 7 students

#### INTRODUCTION

People are placed in a society where demands and needs are complex. They have to possess intelligence, skills and talents in order to thrive in the competitive race of humanity. This is where education comes in. Through education, one can acquire learning and trainings which can help him hone his skills and enrich his knowledge which are necessary in order for him to give what the society demands. In relation to what one can gain from education, a learner must recognize his prime responsibility in his own learning. This implies his big role in the education process.

A learner must acquire learning skills and strategies in order for him to maximize his education. The use of appropriate and effective strategies is his weapon to experience academic success. In addition, a learner must be aware of his own learning skills for him to assess himself in terms of the impact of his learning skills and strategies in his studies and adjust them if they are not useful in his learning. These draw the line between successful learners and those who are not. Metacognition then plays an important role in the academic success of a learner.

Metacognition is generally defined as the activity of monitoring and controlling one's cognition. It can further be defined as what one knows about his/her cognitive processes and how one uses these processes in order to learn and remember (Ormrod, 2004). Another definition of metacognition is that, it is "one's knowledge concerning one's cognitive processes and products or anything related to them" (Flavell, 1976).

Metacognition is important in learning and is a strong predictor of academic success (Dunning, et al, 2003; Kruger and Dunning, 1999). Students with good metacognition demonstrate good academic performance compared to students with poor metacognition. Students with poor metacognition may benefit from metacognitive training to improve their metacognition and academic performance. Individual differences exist in metacognition and people with poor metacognition are deemed "incompetent" as they perform inadequately relative to their peers (Kruger and Dunning, 1999). Metacognition enables

students to be strategic in their learning by, for instance, learning new information rather than focusing on studying information already learned (Everson & Tobias, 1998).

One of the skills that a learner must possess is good reading. In addition, metacognition is a foundation for other reading comprehension strategies. It can then be drawn that metacognition is vital in the acquisition of good reading skills of a learner. People need to learn how to read well because it is very impossible to have a day without having to read something. When people look at their surroundings, there are several printed materials present which need to be read in order for them to grasp what they mean. The ability to comprehend these materials will allow them to gain knowledge, information and skills that are vital for them to become as competent individuals.

It is important to remember that the other learning areas, just like Mathematics and Science, are carefully planned to develop, mold, and produce learners who are knowledgeable and skillful. It is through reading where learners can augment their knowledge on these learning areas that are essential for their growth and development. These are the ways on how reading as a skill sets as an important factor in the success of the learners in school.

Gray (1960) said that reading is an interaction between the reader and the written language through which the reader attempts to reconstruct a message from the writer. Reading is also a sampling, selecting, predicting, comparing, and confirming activity in which the reader selects a sample of useful graphic cues based on what he sees and what he expects to see.

The goal of all reading instruction is to help students become expert readers so that they can achieve independence and can use literacy for lifelong learning and enjoyment. Learning to use strategies effectively is essential in constructing meaning. Readers who are not strategic often encounter difficulties in their reading (Pari, et al, 1991). Moreover, these early difficulties in reading may influence the way readers learn throughout the rest of their lives (Anderson, et al, 1985). The importance of having a good reading skill and effective reading

strategy should be emphasized in order to become an efficient learner. One must continue to practice the habit of reading for him to have a good reading ability.

The above-cited significance of employing reading strategies implies that one should be aware of his own reading strategies which are acquired through metacognition. With these concepts, the researcher conducted a study on the metacognitive awareness and the academic performance of Grade 7 students of Cagayan National High School.

Cagayan National High School, known as one of the best schools in the region, is comprised of learners with varied learning strategies. One of these learning strategies is how they comprehend texts that they read. In doing so, students use reading strategies in order to equip themselves with the knowledge they can derive from reading.

Moreover, Grade 7 students of Cagayan National High School are exposed in the different learning areas that enable them to achieve their maximum potential. One can possibly appreciate and understand these different learning areas when he is equipped with good reading skills. Thus, reading is vital in order not to be deprived with the gift of learning. Along with this skill, appropriate and effective strategies must be employed by the students to acquire learning which is necessary for their growth and development.

#### Statement of the Problem

This study aimed to determine the metacognitive awareness of Grade 7 students and their academic performance in English.

Specifically, the study aimed to answer the following questions:

- 1. What is the profile of the participants when grouped according to their academic classification?
- 2. What is the participants' level of academic performance in English?
- 3. Is there a significant difference in the academic performance of the participants in English when grouped according to academic classification?

- 4. What is the metacognitive awareness of the participants?
- 5. Is there a significant difference in the metacognitive awareness of the participants when grouped according to academic classification?
- 6. Is there a significant relationship between participants' metacognitive awareness and their academic performance in English?

#### **METHODOLOGY**

## **Research Design**

The descriptive-correlational research design was utilized in the conduct of the study. It is appropriate in investigating the correlational analysis of the metacognitive awareness of the students and their academic performance.

## **Participants of the Study**

The participants of the study are the Grade 7 students of Cagayan National High School for the School Year 2014-2015. Representation of participants is presented in Table 1.

Table 1
The Academic Classification, Number of Sections, Total Number of Students, Sample Size and Population per Section of the Participants

Academic Classification	Total Number of Students		Sample Size	
	f	%	f	%
Science Sections	229	16.58	65	15.15
Academic Sections 1-10	465	33.67	130	30.30
Academic Sections 11-25	633	45.84	180	41.96
Special Program in Sports	24	1.74	24	5.59
Special Program in the Arts	30	2.17	30	6.99
TOTAL	1,381	100	429	100

#### Instrumentation

A Metacognitive Awareness in Reading Questionnaire was used to determine the participants' metacognitive awareness. The questionnaire includes the use of bottom-up and top-down strategies. It contains twenty-nine items which consists of eight items from bottom-up strategy and twenty-one from top-down strategy.

Bottom-up strategy is where readers decode the linguistic features to comprehend the text while top-down strategy deals on how readers make use of their previous knowledge and their operational knowledge about how to approach texts to construct their meaning (Oranpattanachi, 2004).

All the items were adopted from the study Perceived Reading Strategies Used by Thai Pre-Engineering Students conducted by Pornpun Oranpattanachi except for the last two reading strategies which were from Carrell (1989).

The participants answered the questionnaire by rating their degree of frequency in using the strategies while reading an English text. The scales very often, often, sometimes, seldom and never were employed.

The validity of the questionnaire was checked through the two English teachers in the area of TEFL who affirmed that the items did measure the construct sensibly and acceptably. Its reliability coefficient is 0.81. In addition, the participants' mean grade from first to fourth grading in English was computed to identify their academic performance.

## **Data Gathering Procedure**

The researcher asked permission from the principal of Cagayan National High School through a letter. After permission was granted, the researcher sought consent from the participants to ensure their voluntary participation to the study. After which, she personally administered the questionnaire on metacognitive awareness to the target participants.

In addition, the researcher also asked permission from the English Department Head and the English teachers of the participants to obtain the latter's grades from first to fourth quarter. When consent was given, the researcher collected the class records of the English teachers to determine the grades of the participants.

## **Data Analysis**

Frequency, percentage, mean, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and Chi-Square test were utilized to treat and analyze the data gathered.

Frequency and Percentage. Participants' degree of frequency in using a reading strategy was measured through frequency count. This degree of frequency was further expressed in terms of percentage.

Mean. This was used to determine the academic performance of the participants in the four grading periods in English.

To interpret the academic performance of the participants, the given scale was used:

Table 2
Scale for Mean Grade for the Academic Performance of the Participants
and their Descriptive Interpretation

Mean Grade	<b>Descriptive Interpretation</b>
90 and above	Advanced (A)
85-89	Proficient (P)
80-84	Approaching Proficiency (AP)
75-79	Developing (D)
74 and below	Beginning (B)

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). This was used to identify whether a significant difference exists in the participants' academic performance in English when they are grouped in terms of their academic classifications. Tests of hypotheses were set at 0.05 level of significance.

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# Profile of the Participants when Grouped According to Their Academic Classification

A total of 429 students served as the participants of the study. There are 180 or 41.96% of the participants are from the Academic Sections 11-25, 130 or 30.30% from the Academic Sections 1-10, 65 or 15.15% from the Science Sections, 30 or 6.99% from the Special Program in the Arts and 24 or 5.59% from the Special Program in Sports.

From the data, it is shown that majority of the participants belong to the Academic Sections 11-25 while the least number of participants came from the Special Program in Sports.

## Participants' Level of Academic Performance in English

From the total of 429 or 100.00% participants, 20 or 4.66% participants are in the Advanced level, 122 or 28.44% participants are in the Proficient level, 232 or 54.08% participants are in the Approaching Proficiency level, and 55 or 12.82% participants are in the Developing level. The computed mean based on the grades of all the participants is 83.21 which is in the Approaching Proficiency level.

In addition, it can be gleaned on the data that the bulk of the participants are in the Approaching Proficiency level while the Advanced level got the lowest chunk.

## Test for Significant Difference in the Academic Performance of the Participants in English when Grouped According to Academic Classification

The academic performance of the participants when grouped according to academic classification is significantly different from one another as to the computed probability value of less than 0.01.

## **Metacognitive Awareness of the Participants**

In Science Sections, 36 or 55.38% of the participants employed the bottom-up, 28 or 43.08% preferred top-down and one or 1.54% applied the neutral strategy.

In Academic Sections 1-10, 65 or 50.00% of the participants used the bottom-up, 63 or 48.46% applied top-down and two or 1.54% employed the neutral strategy.

In Academic Sections 11-25, 68 or 37.78% participants utilized the bottom-up and 112 or 62.22% employed the top-down strategy.

In Special Program in Sports, 13 or 54.17% utilized the bottom-up, 10 or 41.67% preferred top-down and one or 4.16% used the neutral strategy.

In Special Program in the Arts, seven or 23.33% of the participants practiced the use of the bottom-up and 23 or 76.67% used the top-down.

Out of 429 participants, 189 or 44.06% employed the bottom-up, 236 or 55.01% used the top-down and four or 0.93% utilized both the bottom-up and top-down strategies.

# Test for Significant difference in the Metacognitive Awareness of the Participants when Grouped According to Academic Classification

There is a significant difference in the metacognitive awareness used by the participants when grouped according to academic classification. The computed probability value of 0.005 is lesser than 0.05; hence, the null hypothesis was rejected.

# Relationship between the Participants' Metacognitive Awareness and their Academic Performance in English

There is a significant relationship between the participants' metacognitive awareness and their academic performance in English. The computed probability value was 0.02 which is less than the 0.05

level of significance; hence, the null hypothesis was rejected.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the summary of findings, the following conclusions were derived:

The participants use reading strategies in order to help them comprehend the texts that they are reading. The metacognitive awareness of the participants was measured by their use of the bottom-up strategy, top-down strategy or the combination of both strategies as their reading strategy.

The participants who have good academic performance generally use the bottom-up strategy. They understand the texts that they are reading by dealing with the letters and words used in their reading materials. These students are able to acquire reading comprehension through getting the meaning of words. The participants who have low academic performance prefer to use the top-down strategy. They try to comprehend the reading materials based on their prior knowledge and expectations.

The result revealed that the participants who have good academic performance are aware of how they comprehend reading texts by employing the bottom-up strategy such as recognizing words and their meaning. On the other hand, participants who have low academic performance are aware that they employ skills that fall under the top-down strategy.

### RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the summary of findings and conclusions, the following recommendations were drawn:

- 1. Teachers should serve as guides in allowing students to reflect on their metacognition.
- Teachers should give interesting and appropriate reading exercises to the students for the latter to practice, develop and refine their reading strategies.

- 3. Future researchers can conduct further studies using the same questionnaire but must allow their participants to read the text first to have actual determination of their reading strategies.
- 4. Future researchers can use a questionnaire that consists not only of bottom-up and top-down strategies.

#### References

- Abdellah, R. (2015). Metacognitive awareness and its relation to academic achievement and teaching performance of pre-service female teachers in Ajman University in UAE. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *174*(12), 560-567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sbspro.2015.01.707
- Beck, I. L., McKeown, M. G., & Kucan, L. (2002). *Bringing words to life: Robust vocabulary instruction*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Cadena, C. M. Z. (2006). Effectiveness of reading strategies and improving reading comprehension in young ESL readers (Masters' thesis). Universidad Del Norte. Retrieved from http://manglar. uninorte.edu.co/bitstream/handle/10584/718/45686016. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Chege, E. W. (2012). Reading comprehension and it's relationship with academic performance among standard eight pupils in rural Machakos (Masters' thesis). Kenyatta University Institutional Repository. Retrieved from https://ir-library.ku.ac.ke/handle/123456789/3722
- Cisco, B. K., & Padrón, Y. (2012). Investigating vocabulary and reading strategies with middle grade English language learners: A research synthesis. Swanson, K. W. (Ed.). *Research in Middle Level Education Online*, *36*(4). Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ989796.pdf
- Hou, Y. (2015). Reciprocal teaching, metacognitive awareness, and academic performance in Taiwanese junior college students. *International Journal of Teaching & Education, 3(*4), 15-32. DOI: 10.20472/TE.2015.3.4.003

- Mokhtari, K., & Reichard, C. A. (2002). Assessing students' metacognitive awareness of reading strategies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *94*(2), 249-259. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.94.2.249
- Oranpattanachai, P. (2010). Perceived reading strategies used by Thai pre-engineering students. *ABAC Journal*, *30*(2), 26-42. Retrieved from http://www.aulibrary.au.edu/multim1/ABAC\_Pub/ABAC\_Journal/v30-n2-3.pdf
- Oz, H. (2014). The relationship between metacognitive awareness and academic achievement among English as a foreign language teachers. Huang, J., & Fernandes, A. C. (eds.). *Non-native Language Teaching and Learning: Putting the Puzzle Together (1st ed.)*. Untested Ideas Research Center.
- Pressley, M. (2006). Solving problems in the teaching of literacy. Reading instruction that works: The case for balanced teaching (3rd ed.). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Rasinski, T. V., & Padak, N. D. (2004). *Effective Reading Strategies:* Teaching Children Who Find Reading Difficult (3rd ed.). New York: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Sawhney, N., & Bansal, S. (2015). Metacognitive awareness of undergraduate students in relation to their academic achievement. *The International Journal of Indian Psychology,* 3(1). Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/679f/7912211bf7f65cf616c6bb0ae384005fd91a.pdf
- Sheorey, R., & Mokhtari, K. (2001). Differences in the metacognitive awareness of reading strategies among native and non-native readers. *System* 29(4), 431-449. DOI: 10.1016/S0346-251X(01)00039-2
- Teaching Excellence in Adult Literacy. (n.d.). TEAL center fact sheet no.
  4: Metacognitive processes. Retrieved from https://lincs.ed.gov/state-resources/federal-initiatives/teal/guide/metacognitive

- Tizon, M. N. (n.d.) Reading comprehension ability of grade VI pupils of Kinangay Sur Elementary School. Retrieved from http://local.lsu.edu.ph/institutional\_research\_office/publications/vol.16no.1/3. html
- Villamin, A., Diaz, L. S., Talens, B. A., & Santos, N. S. (2001). *Gateways and skyways to developmental reading*. Katha Publishing Co., Inc.
- Villanueva, A., & delos Santos, R. L. (2008). *Developmental reading 1*. Quezon City: Lorimar Publishing
- Wong, B. S. (2012). Metacognitive awareness, procrastination and academicperformanceofuniversitystudentsinHongKong(Doctoral dissertation). University of Leicester. Retrieved from https://lra.le.ac.uk/bitstream/2381/27621/1/2012WongbscEDd%20.pdf



#### **GUIDELINES FOR STUDENT JOURNAL PUBLICATION**

#### **PREREQUISITES**

- Journal Article must be checked thoroughly by the author's Thesis/ Dissertation Adviser and duly endorsed by the Graduate School Dean prior to submission to RPO.
- A final hard copy and a MS Word soft copy (CD-R) are submitted to RPO.
- RPO will check the submitted copy using the **GRAMMARLY SOFTWARE**.
- Number of pages: 8 to 20 pages (from Title Page to References)
- Font Type: Calibri
- Font Size: 11

#### PAPER STRUCTURE AND CONTENT

#### TITLE

- Clearly stated and to the point.
- Catchy, interesting and relevant.
- Able to stand alone to convey the importance of data; communicates contents.
- Not more than 20 words.
- ALL CAPS
- Written in "inverted" pyramid style.

#### **ABSTRACT**

- Contains Summary of INTRODUCTION, METHOD, RESULTS and DISCUSSION (IMRaD)
- Summary of information of what the paper contains.
- Mini-version of the Thesis/Dissertation.
- Also called Executive Summary.
- One-paragraph of 100 to 250 words (300 words for qualitative research, allowable).
- Indented, 1 tab First line.
- Single-spaced (Body of ABSTRACT).

#### Format of ABSTRACT

- Title of Research (ALL CAPS), bold, in "inverted pyramid", single-spaced (20 words or less)
- 2 spaces below Title: Name of Researcher/s, bold, UPPER CASE.
- Below researcher's name: Degree/s obtained, lower case, italicized.
- •Between name of author and degree obtained, no space.
- 2 spaces below degree obtained, then the name of Adviser (UPPER CASE) with Title: Dr., Engr., Mr., Ms., etc, before Adviser's name.
- 2 spaces below Adviser's name: ABSTRACT (UPPPER CASE, italicized, centered).

- 2 spaces below ABSTRACT: one-paragraph body, with first line indented.
- Below Abstract body, 1 space, then type bold line across the page.
- 2 spaces below the line, then write Five (5) Keywords, with no indention.
- After the 5 Keywords, no other writings should appear on the ABSTRACT page.

#### INTRODUCTION

- Gives the setting/scene/background.
- Describes the problem.
- Relates to other works done for the past 5 years.
- Summarizes the structure of the paper.

**Figures and Tables** (Only minimal number of tables will be included, only the important ones)

#### **Tables**

- Summarized data.
- Main points described in text.

#### **Figures**

- Snapshots.
- Conceptual diagrams.
- Instructive and adequately labelled/titled.

#### **METHODOLOGY**

- Researh Design
- Participants
- Instruments/Tools
- Data Analysis
- Ethics Approval

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

- Reports the findings objectively.
- Salient findings must follow discussions that would contain interpretations or implications, especially with respect to the original hypothesis.
- The researcher is free to examine, interpret and qualify the results, and draw inferences from them.

#### References

- Follow the American Psychological Association (APA) Format.
- Make just one general listing for all references cited; no need to classify them.
- Alphabetically arrange all entries regardless of classifications.

### **PUBLISHABLE JOURNAL FORMAT**

For publishable research, the researcher should follow the prescribed format shown below.

TITLE

**ABSTRACT** 

**INTRODUCTION** 

Conceptual Framework
Statement of the Problem

**METHODOLOGY** 

Research Design
Participants of the Study
Instrumentation
Data Gathering Procedure
Data Analysis

**RESULTS AND DISCUSSION** 

CONCLUSION

**RECOMMENDATIONS** 

References

### HOW TO STATE THE RECOMMENDATIONS

## Introductory statement of the Recommendations:

Based on the findings and conclusion of the study, the following recommendations are derived:/are offered:/are drawn: (Use any one of the 3 endings).

Samples (with Target-Implementers). (Just made-up SAMPLES; no particular schools are alluded to).

- The school may consider conducting benchmarking activities with other institutions/agencies for its administrators, Faculty, and personnel to enhance their administrative, teaching, and technical skills.
- The administration may institute measures to solve the problem of faculty in-breeding.
- The faculty are strongly encouraged to speak in English in the campus, inside and outside the classroom to serve as models for Speak-English Policy of the school.
- The Registrar's Office may conduct a study on the causes of dropouts, incomplete grades/projects, failures (for the past three/five years) as basis for instituting appropriate intervention program to address such academic concerns.
- The HR Office may look into the periodic updating of the different School Manual/Handbooks to attune to the needs of the time.
- The Community Extension Services Program may undertake an impact study on the effects of the extension services done for each adopted Barangay for better services towards uplifting the life of the poor.
- The Alumni Office may consider the profiling of Alumni.
- The Offices of the Registrar, Finance, Library and Book Store may adopt a "No-Noon-Break" Policy for availability and convenience.
- The Student Services unit may consider revisiting the Student Handbook, with focus on restorative justice, to better address the disciplinary concerns of the students.
- The Research Center may undertake a study focusing on the actual implementation aspect of the recommendations made by the different researches (for the past three or five years), as basis for instituting practical measures towards enforcing the utilization dimension of research.
- This study may be replicated or adopted by other schools on areas applicable to them.

# OFFICE OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL GRADUATE PROGRAMS

#### **DOCTORATE LEVEL:**

- Doctor in Business Management (DBM)
- Doctor in Hospitality Management (DHM)
- Doctor in Information Technology (DIT)
- Doctor in Public Administration (DPA)
- Ph.D. in Education Major in Educational Management (Ph.D. EM)
- Ph.D. in Education Major in Religious Education (Ph.D. RE)
- Ph.D. in Mathematics Education (Ph.D. ME)
- Ph.D. in Nursing Science (Ph.D. NS)
- Ph.D. in Psychology (Ph.D. Psych)
- Ph.D. in Rhetoric and Linguistics (Ph.D. RL)
- Ph.D. in Science Education (Ph.D. SE)

#### **MASTER'S LEVEL:**

- Master of Arts in Education (MAEd) with thesis
   Major in English, Filipino, General Science, Guidance & Counseling,
   Mathematics, School Leadership and Physical Education
- Master of Science in Teaching (MST) non-thesis
   Majorin English, Biology, Filipino, General Science, Mathematics, Physical Education, Social Studies, and Technology & Livelihood Education
- Master of Arts in Language and Literature (MALL) with thesis
- Master of Arts in Psychology (MA Psy) with thesis
- Master of Psychology (MOP) non-thesis
- Master of Arts in Religious Education (MA RelEd) with thesis
- Master of Religious Education (MoRE) non-thesis
- Master of Arts in Technology & Livelihood Education (MATLE)
- Master in Business Administration (MBA) with thesis and non-thesis
- Master in Public Administration (MPA) with thesis and non-thesis
- Master in Library & Information Science (MLIS) non-thesis
- Master in Information Technology (MIT) with thesis

  Major in Systems Development, and Information Management
- Master of Science in Hospitality Management (MSHM) with thesis and non-thesis
- Master of Science in Social Work (MSSW) with thesis and non-thesis
- Master of Arts in Nursing (MAN) with thesis and non-thesis Major in Nursing Administration
- Master of Science in Nursing (MSN) with thesis and non-thesis
   Major in Adult Health, Primary Health Care, Women's Health, and
   Global Health Care Leadership
- Master of Arts in Global Health Care Leadership (MAGHCL) with thesis



# St. Paul University Philippines

Tuguegarao City, Cagayan Valley 3500 www.spup.edu.ph

Tel. No.: (+63)(78) 396-1987 to 1994 Fax No.: (+63)(78) 846-4305



# Accreditations:









